Washington University in St. Louis Washington University Open Scholarship

All Theses and Dissertations (ETDs)

January 2010

Breaking Bad News: Effect Of Physician Communication On Analog Patients' Response

Emily Porensky Washington University in St. Louis

Follow this and additional works at: https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/etd

Recommended Citation

Porensky, Emily, "Breaking Bad News: Effect Of Physician Communication On Analog Patients' Response" (2010). All Theses and Dissertations (ETDs). 279. https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/etd/279

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Washington University Open Scholarship. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations (ETDs) by an authorized administrator of Washington University Open Scholarship. For more information, please contact digital@wumail.wustl.edu.

WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY IN ST. LOUIS

Department of Psychology

Dissertation Examination Committee: Brian D. Carpenter, Chairperson Teresa Deshields Janet M. Duchek Aimee James Thomas L. Rodebaugh Martha Storandt

BREAKING BAD NEWS: EFFECT OF PHYSICIAN COMMUNICATION ON

ANALOG PATIENTS' RESPONSE

by

Emily Kissel Porensky

A dissertation presented to the Graduate School of Arts and Sciences of Washington University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

August 2010

Saint Louis, Missouri

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Breaking Bad News:

Effect of Physician Communication on Analog Patients' Response

by

Emily Kissel Porensky Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology Washington University in St. Louis, 2010 Professor Brian D. Carpenter, Chairperson

Breaking bad news is a difficult, yet unavoidable part of healthcare for physicians and patients alike. Although expert opinion suggests that certain strategies for breaking bad news may be better than others, there is little methodologically rigorous research to support current guidelines. This study used an experimental paradigm to test two communication strategies, forecasting bad news and framing prognostic information, when giving people a life-limiting diagnosis of colon cancer. Videotapes depicted a physician disclosing a diagnosis of cancer and discussing prognosis. Participants (N =128) were asked to imagine they were going to see a doctor for physical symptoms they had been experiencing and were randomly assigned to one of one of four videotape conditions: (a) bad news warning (i.e., "I'm afraid I have bad news."), positive outcome framing (e.g., chances of survival); (b) no warning, positive outcome framing; (c) bad news warning, negative outcome (e.g., chances of death) framing; or (d) no warning, negative outcome framing. Results showed that the type of warning recommended in current guidelines (and examined in this study) was not associated with lower psychological distress (i.e., anxiety, affect), nor did it improve recall of consultation content. In contrast, individuals who heard a positively framed prognosis were significantly less anxious and had lower negative affect than those who heard a negatively framed prognosis. They rated their prognosis as significantly better than those who heard the negative frame and were significantly more hopeful. Despite these desirable outcomes, a trend toward reduced accuracy in recalling the prognostic statistics was observed in the positive condition. Because the goal of a prognostic discussion is generally to balance accurate knowledge with optimal psychological well-being, these findings suggest indirectly that mixed framing (i.e., explaining prognosis with both positive and negative frames) may be best, although further research is needed. The results from this study contribute to a growing body of literature exploring optimal approaches for communicating bad news in health care. Though individual differences preclude a one-size-fits-all approach, this empirical evidence should help doctors to communicate bad news in ways that enhance understanding while minimizing distress for each patient.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am incredibly grateful to everyone who helped to make this dissertation possible. I would like to thank my committee members for their helpful feedback and suggestions. They challenged me to think carefully about every choice I made concerning this project, making the finished product much stronger, and helping me to become a better researcher in the process. I am especially appreciative of my advisor, Dr. Brian Carpenter, for encouraging me to pursue my own research interests, and of Dr. Martha Storandt, for her open-door policy and the countless hours she spent on this project and others helping me work through statistical analyses. I would also like to thank Dr. Taylor, Dr. Gibbons, and Dr. Kuebler for sharing their medical expertise and helping with the development of the videotapes used in this project.

I am so thankful for my family and friends and their constant support and encouragement throughout the last five years. I am lucky to have a father who has been a wonderful sounding board and advisor for all my academic work over the years, especially during the most difficult moments of developing this dissertation project. A huge thank you to my mother and my best friend Sarah, without whom I would not have remained sane, let alone happy, while juggling data collection, therapy clients, and commuting weekly between two states. Finally, I want to thank my husband Paul for his patience, love, and endless support. Not many husbands would be willing to spend the first year and a half of married life in a different state than their spouse, yet he continues to encourage me to pursue my own goals, and believes in me even when I doubt myself.

This research was supported by a Washington University Dissertation Fellowship and a grant from the Center for the Study of Ethics and Human Values.

iv

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS v
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES x
LIST OF APPENDICES xi
CHAPTER 1: OVERVIEW1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW
Overview
Bad News Defined: The Importance of Diagnosis and Prognosis
Challenges of Bad News Communication
Psychological Distress
Patient Comprehension
Patient Preferences
Physician Perspectives and Practices in Breaking Bad News
Practice Guidelines
General Review15
Warning of Impending Bad News 19
Framing of Prognostic Information

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Limitations of Current Guidelines and Previous Research	
CHAPTER 3: RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESES	
Warning Hypotheses	
Framing Hypotheses	
Additional Research Questions	
Personality	
CHAPTER 4: METHODS	35
Participants	
Power	35
Participant Characteristics	
Materials	
Vignettes	
Videotapes	
Measures	39
Demographics Variables	39
Health	39
Personality	40
Health Information Style	40
Dependent Variables	
Procedure	
CHAPTER 5: PILOT STUDIES	50

CHAPTER 6: RESULTS	
Tests of Hypotheses	54
Warning Hypotheses	
Framing Hypotheses	59
Additional Research Questions	
Personality and Health Information Style	
CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION	89
Effect of Warning of Impending Bad News	
Effect of Warning of Impending Bad News	89 95
Effect of Warning of Impending Bad News Effect of Framing Prognostic Information	
Effect of Warning of Impending Bad News Effect of Framing Prognostic Information Limitations General Discussion and Implications	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Time of Procedures and Assessments
Table 2. Means (and Standard Deviations) of Participant Characteristics by Condition . 52
Table 3. Percentages of Participant Characteristics by Condition
Table 4. Means and Standard Deviations of Positive Affect, Negative Affect, and Anxiety
by Warning Condition56
Table 5. Means and Standard Deviations of Positive Affect, Negative Affect, and Anxiety
by Warning Condition for Participants Who Accurately Identified the Warning
Manipulation Only
Table 6. Means and Standard Deviations of Bad News Ratings After Prognosis Video by
Condition
Table 7. Analysis of Variance for Bad News Rating of Prognosis
Table 8. Means and Standard Deviations of Positive and Negative Affect
Table 9. Means and Standard Deviations of Anxiety 71
Table 10. Analysis of Variance for Ratings of Hopefulness (LOT-R) by Condition 73
Table 11. Means and Standard Deviations of Hopefulness Ratings by Condition
Table 12. Univariate Tests for Hopefulness Ratings by Framing Condition
Table 13. Intercorrelations Among Personality and Residualized Affect and Anxiety
Scores after the Warning Video78
Table 14. Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting
Negative Affect for Warning Video
Table 15. Intercorrelations Among Personality and Residualized Affect and Anxiety
Scores for Prognosis Video

Table 16. Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Predicting Positive Affect
after Prognosis Video
Table 17. Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting
Negative Affect for Prognosis Video
Table 18. Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Anxiety
for Prognosis Video
Table 19. Intercorrelations Between Personality, Residualized LOT-R and Hope Ratings
for Prognosis Video
Table 20. Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Mean

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Number of participants in positive and negative framing conditions who
accurately recalled the two prognostic statistics
Figure 2. Number of participants in positive and negative framing conditions who
correctly recalled the two prognostic statistics
Figure 3. Recall accuracy for the first (top panel) and second (bottom panel) prognostic
statistics, by framing condition64
Figure 4. Number of participants in each framing condition whose recall of second
prognostic statistic was accurate, optimistic, or pessimistic
Figure 5. Mean bad news ratings of prognosis (+/- 95% CI) in positive ($n = 64$) and
negative $(n = 64)$ framing conditions. High score indicates good news67
Figure 6. Effect of framing on residualized positive affect, negative affect and anxiety. 72

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A. Vignettes	128
Appendix B. Video Scripts	130
Appendix C. Information Recall Questionnaire	134
Appendix D. Hope Ratings Questionnaire	135

CHAPTER 1: OVERVIEW

Breaking bad news, such as disclosing an alarming diagnosis or conveying poor prognosis, is reported to be one of the most difficult communication tasks faced by health care professionals (Hagerty, Butow, Ellis, Dimitry, & Tattersall, 2005). Many physicians describe this task as stressful, and patients relate experiences of receiving bad news from physicians whose approach was insensitive or inadequate (Butow et al., 1996; Christakis, 1999; Friedrichsen & Milberg, 2006). Numerous guidelines have been discussed in journal articles, editorials, and formal protocols in an effort to help physicians carry out these difficult conversations; however, these guidelines and recommendations tend to highlight only general communication strategies and are based largely on expert consensus (Baile et al., 2000). For example, guidelines often encourage physicians to forecast impending bad news with a warning, that is, a statement such as "I do not have good news." Though it is suggested that this type of warning may soften the blow and improve the patient's understanding, there is not yet research to support this claim.

Furthermore, these general guidelines rarely offer recommendations for how to discuss topics that are particularly difficult for physicians, such as disclosing poor prognosis to patients. It is debated, for instance, whether it is more beneficial to frame a prognosis in terms of positive outcomes (e.g., "You have a 30% chance of survival") or negative outcomes (e.g., "You have a 70% chance of death"; Rodriguez, Gambino, Butow, Hagerty, & Arnold, 2008). Discerning whether physicians' framing of prognosis might influence patients' recall and interpretation is critical (Gordon & Daughtery, 2003; Rodriguez et al., 2008), as research shows that patients tend to overestimate (i.e., are more positive about) their own prognosis (Mackillop, Stewart, Ginsburg, & Stewart,

1988). Moreover, these misjudgments tend to be associated with seeking more aggressive treatment compared with patients with more realistic understandings of their prognosis (Weeks et al., 1998).

In short, although expert opinion suggests that certain approaches to breaking bad news may be better than others, there is a dearth of methodologically rigorous investigations to support current guidelines. Little is known about "which of the personal, interpersonal, news-specific, situation-specific, and transmission-specific variables" may contribute to patients' recall, interpretation and response to bad news (Ptacek & Eberhart, 1996, p. 496).

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine the effect of forecasting bad news and framing prognostic information when people receive a life-limiting diagnosis. The study had the following specific aims:

- 1. Determine whether forecasting bad news affects psychological distress and information recall in analog patients receiving a hypothetical cancer diagnosis.
- Determine whether the framing of the prognosis (positive outcome vs. negative outcome) influences psychological distress, recall, and interpretations of prognosis and feelings of hope in analog patients.
- 3. Determine whether analog patient characteristics (e.g., personality, age, education, health information style) interact with warning and framing to influence analog patient outcomes.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

Research on patient-physician communication has a relatively long history in the social, behavioral, and medical sciences. Research on breaking bad news, however, is limited. According to one review, fewer than 25% of publications on breaking bad news present original data (VandeKieft, 2001), and empirical data that are available tend to be based primarily on retrospective investigations and self-report studies of physician opinion and patient preferences (Ptacek & Eberhart, 1996). The literature reviewed in this chapter will focus primarily on studies of cancer patients, as the majority of research and discussion on breaking bad news has been conducted within oncology.

The first section of this review defines bad news and provides a general overview of the two forms of bad news that are examined in this study: diagnosis and prognosis. This is followed by evidence suggesting that patients often have high levels of distress and poor understanding of what they have heard after receiving bad news, varying with particular aspects of physician communication. Research on patients' preferences and physicians' perspectives on bad news delivery is then reviewed. A general discussion of practice guidelines is included next, followed by a more detailed discussion of two communication strategies: warning of impending bad news and framing prognostic information in terms of positive versus negative outcomes. This chapter concludes with a discussion of the limitations of prior studies and the associated need for controlled experimental studies to explore whether particular communication strategies can enhance patient recall and understanding while minimizing distress.

Bad News Defined: The Importance of Diagnosis and Prognosis

In healthcare, bad news is a phrase that is used liberally to describe any information that "results in a cognitive, behavioral or emotional deficit in the person receiving the news that persists for some time after the news is received" (Ptacek & Eberhardt, 1996, p. 496). This definition implies that, ultimately, the interpretation of bad news is subjective and may vary according to an individual patient's personality and past experiences (Fallowfield & Jenkins, 2004). Another commonly cited definition describes bad news as "any news that drastically and negatively alters the patient's view of his or her future" (Buckman, 1984, p. 1597). Most communication research has focused on bad news in the form of disclosing a diagnosis such as Alzheimer's disease or cancer; however, bad news may range from telling a patient that he needs to take medication for high cholesterol to telling family members that a patient has died. Conveying poor prognosis, that is, telling a patient that a cure is unlikely or that he does not have long to live, is reported to be an especially challenging communication task (Schofield & Butow, 2004).

Though sometimes assumed to be synonymous with life expectancy, prognosis generally refers to the predicted course and outcome of a disease. Prognosis considers both disease-related and treatment-related information including the spread of the disease, the chance of a cure, 5- or 10-year survival rates, qualitative expectations of disease progression, and differences in morbidity and mortality with and without treatment (Rodriguez et al., 2008). Some researchers distinguish between qualitative prognosis (i.e., the patient is/is not expected to die from this disease) and quantitative

prognosis (i.e., how long the patient is expected to live; Kaplowitz, Campo, & Chiu, 2002).

Although difficult for physicians to communicate and for patients to hear, bad news is an unavoidable part of healthcare. Ethical and legal standards in Western cultures encourage patients to be involved in medical decision-making, and emphasis is placed on the patient's own preferences for treatment and care. As such, patients need to understand both their diagnosis and prognosis, even when that information is bad, in order to make informed decisions according to their preferences and values. Indeed, studies have shown that how patients understand their diagnosis and estimate their prognosis is related to what treatments they choose to pursue (Weeks et al., 1998).

Challenges of Bad News Communication

Psychological Distress

In spite of the inherently subjective nature of bad news, receiving a diagnosis of cancer, particularly one with poor prognosis, can be expected to incite some level of fear and distress. A certain amount of anxiety is normal in response to a diagnosis of cancer, yet many patients experience more severe, clinically significant psychological distress that can interfere with their quality of life and ability to manage and cope with the disease (Schofield & Butow, 2004). For instance, a large study of approximately 4,500 patients with newly diagnosed cancer found that 18% had clinically significant levels of depression and 24% had clinically significant levels of anxiety as assessed with the Brief Symptom Inventory (Zabora, Brintzenhofeszoc, Curbow, Hooker, & Piantadosi, 2001).

A smaller study of women with ovarian cancer reported similar findings, with 35% of patients evidencing mild to moderate depressive symptoms and 20% showing

moderate to severe depression using the Beck Depression Inventory (Norton et al., 2004). Notably, one investigation found that the level of mood disturbance shortly after lung cancer diagnosis (before beginning treatment) was the strongest predictor of mood disturbance 6 months later, even after controlling for patient characteristics such as coping style and response to treatment (Akechi et al., 2006). Although the authors of that investigation did not control for prediagnosis mood, this preliminary evidence suggests that steps taken to minimize anxiety and depression early in the healthcare encounter may be important for minimizing longer term psychological distress. Only limited research, however, has examined the extent to which facets of physician communication contribute to patients' anxiety and depression following bad news.

One such study found that breast cancer patients' psychological adjustment 6 months after surgery was significantly associated with patients' recall of their physician having a caring and empathic attitude when communicating the cancer diagnosis (Roberts, Cox, Reintgen, Baile, & Gibertini, 1994). Other studies have reported similar results (e.g., Butow et al., 1996; Omne-Ponten, Holmber, & Sjoden, 1994). In addition, a survey of patients with gynecologic cancer found that patients who were anxious and/or depressed were more likely to report that their physicians had held back information when communicating the diagnosis compared with patients without anxiety or depression. Anxiety was also associated with a greater need for emotional support at the time of the diagnosis, and women who were depressed were more likely to report feeling dissatisfied with the doctor-patient relationship (Paraskevaidis, Kitchener, & Walker, 1993).

Another retrospective study of recently diagnosed melanoma patients found that among other communication factors, patients who reported that their doctors discussed the severity of the cancer and those who recalled their doctor talking about life expectancy reported lower levels of depression approximately 3 to 4 months after receiving a cancer diagnosis (Schofield et al., 2003). These differences, however, did not persist when patients were assessed again 3 to 4 months later. All of these studies provide preliminary evidence of an association between patients' perceptions of physician communication and patients' postdiagnosis adjustment; however, conclusions are limited by the studies' retrospective designs and imprecise characterization of physicians' communication behaviors.

Patient Comprehension

In addition to minimizing psychological distress, maximizing patient recall and comprehension of diagnostic and prognostic information is an important goal in the delivery of bad news. As stated previously, patients need to understand the novel and often complicated medical information provided by their physician if they are to participate in decision-making about their own care (Schofield & Butow, 2004). Unfortunately, prior research has suggested that patients may not achieve adequate understanding. For instance, a study of patients' recall following an initial appointment with their oncologist found that patients remembered only 25% of the information presented and only 45% of the information classified by oncologists as most important (Dunn et al., 1993). Another investigation of cancer outpatients reported that nearly 30% misunderstood the extent of their disease (i.e., whether it was localized or metastatic) and

40% could not correctly identify the goal of the treatment they were receiving (i.e., curative vs. palliative; Gattellari, Butow, Tattersall, Dunn, & MacLeod, 1999).

Patient comprehension regarding prognosis appears to be particularly poor (Gattellari et al., 1999; Mackillop et al., 1988; Weeks et al., 1998). To illustrate, in the large-scale SUPPORT study (the Study to Understand Prognoses and Preferences for Outcomes and Risks of Treatments), patients with advanced lung and colon cancer and their treating physicians were asked to estimate the patient's chances of surviving 6 months (Weeks et al., 1998). Response options were less than 10%, approximately 25%, 50%, 75%, or 90% or greater. Results revealed that patients tended to overestimate their chances of survival compared with physician estimates, as well as their actual duration of survival. For instance, three-quarters of patients with a less than 10% chance of surviving 6 months erroneously estimated their chances of survival to be 75% or more. Similar discrepancies were seen for patients with higher 6-month survival rates; overall, 82% of patients overestimated their chances of survival compared with their physician, and 59% did so by 2 or more prognostic response categories.

These discrepancies are concerning for two reasons: first, patients were significantly less accurate than physicians in predicting actual 6-month survival; second, patient estimates of prognosis were significantly associated with treatment preferences. Specifically, among patients with a less than 10% chance of surviving 6 months according to their physician, those patients who believed they had a 90% or greater chance of surviving 6 months were 8.5 times more likely to choose life-extending treatment at the expense of pain and discomfort compared with patients who estimated their 6-month survival probabilities at less than 90% (Weeks et al., 1998).

In sum, many patients appear to have a poor understanding of their own disease and prognosis, and these misinterpretations have important implications for treatment preferences. Patients who considerably overestimate their prognosis may choose more aggressive treatments without appreciation that such treatments may produce painful side effects without significantly lengthening their lives (Lamont & Christakis, 2001). These findings do not appear to be unique to patients close to death, as a similar tendency to overestimate prognosis and misinterpret treatment goals has been documented in outpatients with less advanced stages of cancer (Gattellari et al., 1999).

Common sense suggests that numerous factors likely contribute to these misunderstandings. Although patient intellect, personality, and denial likely play a role, it is reasonable to believe that the manner in which physicians communicate may be relevant, even after controlling for patient characteristics (Christakis, 1999; Sabbioni, 1999). For instance, one study found that patients' retrospective ratings of the clarity of information received were associated with better recall (Gattellari et al., 1999), yet this finding clearly confounds patients' ratings with their recall. More research is needed to elucidate the association between physician communication and patient recall and interpretation of prognostic information.

Patient Preferences

Patients repeatedly identify good doctor-patient communication as an essential element in quality healthcare (Butow, Dunn, & Tattersall, 1995). A recent survey of 440 patients with advanced cancer, COPD, and heart disease showed that more than 98% of these patients cited open and honest communication with their physician as very or extremely important to their care. Communication was the third most important element

of quality end-of-life care, even more important than relief of symptoms, being treated as an individual, and 23 other aspects of care (Heyland et al., 2006). Communication appears to be equally important to patients with less advanced disease. A survey of 232 outpatients with cancer found that 99% of patients cited communication skills as a very or moderately important aspect of care, though the study did not clarify which skills were considered most important (Wiggers, Donovan, Redman, & Sanson-Fisher, 1990). Moreover, a recent qualitative study of cancer patients' perspectives found that many patients believed that communication with their physician could influence important cancer outcomes, most notably their survival, by virtue of its effect on decision-making, immune functioning, and attitude as well as their emotional distress, sense of control, and feelings of hope (Thorne, Hislop, Armstrong, & Oglov, 2008).

Though overshadowed by studies of physician opinion until recently, several researchers have attempted to discern what information patients want when receiving bad news. Despite some variability according to patients' age, education, and disease stage, a recent review of the literature concluded that the majority of patients "want as much information as possible" regarding topics ranging from diagnosis to treatment and prognosis (Barclay, Blackhall, & Tulsky, 2007, p. 961). More specifically, one study of cancer patients' preferences found that patients placed the highest priority on receiving information regarding their disease and their treatment options, above elements such as being comforted, reassured, or talking about their feelings regarding the news (Parker et al., 2001).

With respect to prognosis, one survey of women with early-stage breast cancer found that over 90% of women considered it very important to know their chances of

being cured, their chances of the recommended treatment working, and the disease characteristics affecting their probability of cure (e.g., tumor size, lymph node involvement). Sixty percent of women reported it was very important to know 10-year survival rates for women taking the recommended therapy; only 30% wanted to know maximum and minimum life expectancy figures (Lobb, Butow, Kenny, & Tattersall, 1999). A similar study revealed that 91% of women with newly diagnosed breast cancer wanted to know prognostic information before making treatment decisions (Lobb, Kenny, Butow, & Tattersall, 2001). These preferences do not appear to change considerably in more advanced disease stages; 80 to 85% of patients with incurable metastatic cancer reported a desire to be given information about survival rates (Hagerty et al., 2004). Notably, however, in contrast to diagnostic and treatment-related information, some patients expressed a desire that their physicians inquire first before disclosing prognostic information (Hagerty et al., 2004).

Although most patients reportedly want to be fully informed of their condition, this desire for information does not come without qualifications. For example, patients consistently report wanting to receive bad news in a way that is honest and straightforward but does not destroy their hope. Similarly, "being too blunt" is commonly cited as a characteristic of poorly delivered bad news (Wenrich et al., 2001.) Patients have generally reported wanting their doctors to be empathic and supportive (Butow, MacLean, Dunn, Tattersall, & Boyer, 1997; Parker et al., 2001), to use simple language, and to allow plenty of time for questions (Parker et al., 2001).

Parker and colleagues (2001, p. 2051) found that "doctor warning me that there will be unfavorable news" was considered by patients to be an important, though not

essential element for delivering bad news. This technique was rated as somewhat less important than other aspects of communication such as being told of all treatment options, being given the news directly and honestly, and having the doctor take time to answer questions. Another study found similarly that 77% of breast cancer patients considered "[preparing patients] for the possibility of bad news as early as possible" to be among the top 10 most important principles for delivering bad news (Girgis, Sanson-Fisher, & Schofield, 1999, Table 1). It remains unclear how patients define preparation or what time frame may be considered as early as possible.

Somewhat less is known about how patients prefer to hear prognostic information. Davey and colleagues conducted semistructured interviews with 26 cancer patients and found that all patients preferred that physicians frame prognostic information in terms of positive outcomes (Davey, Butow, & Armstrong, 2003). In contrast, Lobb et al. (1999) found mixed results: 43% of women with breast cancer preferred to hear prognosis framed in terms of positive outcomes (e.g., chance of cure) because it "encourages determination to manage treatment positively," whereas 33% preferred the prognosis framed in terms of negative outcomes (e.g., chance of relapse) because it "emphasizes the importance of additional treatment" and was considered "more specific/precise" (p. 294).

Physician Perspectives and Practices in Breaking Bad News

Many physicians report delivering bad news to be a difficult and stressful experience, even for those who do it frequently. In a survey of 700 members of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, over 75% of clinicians reported breaking bad news to a patient at least 5 times in a typical month, with 45% doing so 10 or more times per month (Baile et al., 2000). Despite this frequency, 39% rated their ability to deliver

bad news as only fair, and 8% considered it poor. Fifty-eight percent of all clinicians in this survey identified "being honest but not taking away hope" to be the most difficult aspect of breaking bad news (Baile et al., 2000; p. 303). A similar survey found that, although the severity of distress experienced by most physicians while delivering bad news was only moderate (M = 2.9 on a scale ranging from 1 [*none*] to 5 [*a great deal*]), 42% of physicians reported that the stress evoked in the delivery of bad news typically lasted for several hours or even as long as 3 days after the conclusion of the consultation (Ptacek, Ptacek & Ellison, 2001). Other studies have reported that physicians who give bad news often (e.g., oncologists, colorectal surgeons) tend to experience high levels of burnout, and physicians who perceived their training in communication skills to be inadequate were more likely to report high levels of stress and burnout (Ramirez et al., 1995; Sharma, Sharp, Walker, & Monson, 2007).

Less is known about physicians' perspectives on communicating information about prognosis. Generally speaking, physicians report much greater difficulty in conveying prognosis than in disclosing diagnosis (Schofield & Butow, 2004). This perception is reflected in physicians' reported and observed practice. Although nearly all physicians in Western countries report disclosing diagnoses to cancer patients except in very rare or unusual cases (Novack et al., 1979), many physicians prefer to only discuss prognosis once the patient has requested that information (Gordon & Daughtery, 2003). One survey found that 29% of oncologists would occasionally withhold prognosis unless a patient specifically requested that information, and 17% said they would almost always do so (Baile, Lenzi, Parker, Buckman, & Cohen, 2002). Consistent with this survey, it does appear that many physicians tend to delay or avoid disclosing prognostic

information to patients. Perhaps the most notable documentation of this avoidance was obtained in the innovative SUPPORT study. In that large multicenter center investigation of 4,804 patients with life-limiting illnesses, a randomized intervention was implemented with the express goal of improving communication and decision making between patients, families, and physicians by (among other things) providing physicians with reliable, computer-generated prognostic information that could be included in family discussions of prognosis and treatment goals. Physicians, however, were not required to use this information, and in the end only 15% of physicians reported that they shared the prognostic information with patients and families (The SUPPORT Principal Investigators, 1995). The reasons for this low percentage were unfortunately not addressed in the study, but it seems possible that, in at least some cases, physicians felt uncomfortable discussing poor prognoses.

A few studies have attempted to document physicians' current practice of breaking bad news by audiotaping and analyzing consultations between oncologists and patients. One such study of patients with incurable cancer found that, although physicians discussed goals of treatment with 85% of patients and identified their cancer as terminal in 75% of cases, only 58% of patients received information about their life expectancy (Gattellari, Voigt, Butow, & Tattersall, 2002). A more recent study used the same methodology to examine oncologists' use of framing in communicating prognosis to patients with terminal cancer. The authors of that study found that oncologists were more likely to discuss treatment-focused prognosis (e.g., chances of treatment working; 72%) rather than disease-related prognosis (e.g., chances of survival; 28%). Further, 27% of physicians' prognostic statements were framed in terms of negative outcomes (i.e.,

chance of death or treatment not working), 50% were framed in terms of positive outcomes (i.e., chance of survival or cure), and 23% used mixed framing (Rodriguez et al., 2008).

With a few exceptions (e.g., Baile et al., 2002), systematic studies have not been conducted to elicit physicians' perspectives on optimal approaches to delivering bad news. Numerous editorials and opinion papers, however, have been written from the perspective of physicians on how best to deliver bad news. This literature will be summarized in the next section.

Practice Guidelines

General Review

Since the late 1970s, numerous articles and editorials with recommendations for breaking bad news have been published in a variety of medical journals (e.g., Buckman, 1984; Campbell, 1994; Eggly et al., 2006; Fallowfield, 1993; VandeKieft, 2001). Most of these articles were written by clinicians experienced in breaking bad news, and nearly all were based solely on the authors' opinions regarding best practices. There is notable variability in the specificity, structure, and content of the guidelines. Several qualitative reviews have attempted to address this variability by compiling and summarizing individual recommendations, yet these reviews, too, have relied primarily on the subjective judgment of individual authors (Barclay et al, 2007; Fallowfield & Jenkins, 2004; Ptacek & Eberhardt, 1996).

One group of researchers and practitioners in New South Wales, Australia attempted to use a more systematic consensus process to develop a protocol for breaking bad news (Girgis & Sanson-Fisher, 1995). Briefly, the authors first created a provisional

list of guidelines by reviewing past literature. This list was then reviewed by a panel of

28 professionals (oncologists, nurses, surgeons, social workers, clergy, and human rights

experts), and subsequently rated by 100 cancer patients. Patients rated each guideline on

a 5-point scale: 1 (essential for doctor to do every time), 2 (desirable for doctor to do if

time permits), 3 (unsure), 4 (not necessary), 5 (never should be done). Sixteen guidelines

that were recommended by the professional panel and rated as desirable or essential by at

least 70% of patients were retained in the final protocol. These guidelines were:

- 1. Only one person should deliver the news.
- 2. Patients have an ethical and legal right to know their medical information.
- 3. A physician's main responsibility is to the patient.
- 4. Physicians should provide honest and reliable information.
- 5. Physicians should ask how much information patients want to hear.
- 6. Prepare the patient for the possibility of bad news as early as possible.
- 7. When disclosing results of several tests, do not give each result separately.
- 8. Disclose the diagnosis to the patients as soon as it is confirmed.
- 9. Find a private location and help the patient feel comfortable.
- 10. If at all possible, allow significant others to be present.
- 11. If at all possible, another healthcare professional should be present.
- 12. Notify health care professionals involved in the patient's care of how much the patient understood.
- 13. Express warmth, sympathy, encouragement, or reassurance with eye contact and body language.
- 14. If the patient does not speak English, have an interpreter present.
- 15. Consider the culture, race, religious beliefs, and social background of the patient.
- 16. Admit the emotional challenge of breaking bad news.

Girgis and Sanson-Fisher's (1995) consensus process appears to be the most

systematic approach to guideline development to date, yet, unfortunately, the process still

suffered from several limitations. First, unlike the patient sample, it does not appear that

the professional panel used a systematic process in deriving their recommendations.

Second, the authors presented only the final pool of 16 guidelines, making it impossible

to know whether their initial pool of guidelines (i.e., the provisional list based on literature review) was consistent with other qualitative review studies. Finally, and most importantly, although their consensus approach provided some preliminary evidence regarding patients' acceptance of practice guidelines, empirical evidence that these guidelines influence important patient outcomes remains absent.

One of the most frequently cited and well-organized set of guidelines is the SPIKES protocol (Baile et al., 2000). The acronym SPIKES stands for the six recommended steps in the process of breaking bad news: (a) Setting up the interview, (b) assessing the patient's Perception, (c) obtaining the patient's Invitation, (d) giving Knowledge and information to the patient, (e) addressing the patient's Emotions with empathic responses, and (f) Strategy and Summary. Within each of these general steps, more detailed tasks and techniques are suggested. For instance, when setting up the interview, physicians are encouraged to find a private location, involve significant others, sit down, make eye contact, and avoid interruptions. When giving knowledge and information, the protocol recommends warning the patient that bad news is coming, using nontechnical language (e.g., spread rather than metastasized), avoiding undue bluntness (e.g., "You have very bad cancer and unless you get treatment immediately you are going to die," p. 306), and intermittently assessing the patient's understanding. Like most guidelines, Baile and colleagues developed the SPIKES protocol by synthesizing key principles and communication strategies from several qualitative reviews and preexisting guidelines for communicating bad news (e.g., Girgis & Sanson-Fisher, 1995; Ptacek & Eberhart, 1996). Hence this and other recently developed protocols continue to be based largely on expert consensus and descriptive studies of patient preferences.

In general, guidelines for breaking bad news, including the two protocols just described (Baile et al., 2000; Girgis & Sanson-Fisher, 1995) have been designed for application to any bad news conversation and thus include only basic recommendations, requiring each clinician to adapt the guidelines to his or her unique situation. Most protocols focus on general communication style and technique and exclude guidelines in specific content areas. For instance, neither SPIKES nor the Girgis and Sanson-Fisher guidelines address how prognosis should be conveyed despite the fact that this topic has been identified by physicians as one of the most difficult aspects of breaking bad news, particularly in oncology (Baile et al., 2002; Gordon & Daughtery, 2003). Communication about prognosis has been studied, though the literature on this topic is much smaller than the general literature on breaking bad news. Furthermore, as one review pointed out, most studies in the past have examined *whether* physicians should disclose information about prognosis to patients, with only more recent research addressing *how* patients prefer that prognostic information be conveyed (Hagerty et al., 2005).

In contrast to general guidelines for disclosing bad news, those that address prognosis tend to be included in separate protocols that are specific to oncology or endof-life care. For instance, the Education in Palliative and End-of-Life Care (EPEC) Project is a curriculum designed by experts at Northwestern University and across the country to train physicians on how to care for dying patients (Emanuel, von Gunten, & Ferris, 1999). One module of that curriculum contains guidelines for communicating bad news, with one section (four short paragraphs) addressing how to communicate prognosis. The curriculum is limited, however, in that it addresses only life expectancy and appears to be based on expert consensus alone. The two main recommendations of

this section include ascertaining why patients want to hear prognosis before revealing any information and avoiding definitive estimates of life expectancy in favor of ranges or averages (e.g., hours to days left to live).

A more comprehensive set of guidelines is included in the lengthy protocol developed by the National Breast Cancer Centre and National Cancer Control Initiative of Australia (2003). Among other topics, this protocol makes recommendations for discussing prognosis including when prognosis should be discussed (e.g., prior to treatment, as part of treatment decision-making), what information should be provided (e.g., details of the cancer's stage and the effect on prognosis, chances of cure and average survival times), and how to discuss prognosis (e.g., framing prognosis in terms of positive and negative outcomes, presenting information in multiple formats—both words and numbers, both visual and verbal). The protocol was developed by a panel of representatives from various disciplines involved in cancer care that reviewed and synthesized existing literature. The authors cited the level of scientific evidence available to support each of the recommendations, and, like the general bad news protocols, most of the guidelines were based on expert consensus or self-report studies of patient preferences.

Warning of Impending Bad News

Offering a warning, (i.e., a statement or set of statements given in advance of the bad news to let the patient know that bad news is coming), is included in most published guidelines (e.g., Baile et al., 2000; Barclay et al., 2007; Faulkner, Maguire, & Regnard, 1994; Miranda & Brody, 1992). Others have described this technique as forecasting impending bad news (Maynard, 1996). Most recommendations discuss a simple, one line

warning such as, "I'm afraid I have bad news," given mere moments before conveying the bad news itself. Others have suggested, however, that a warning may be given in advance of the bad news consultation such as over the telephone when the appointment is made (Ptacek & Eberhart, 1996). Further, the recommendation that "The patient…be prepared for the possibility of bad news as early as possible" (Girgis, Sanson-Fisher & Schofield, 1999, Table 1) found in some guidelines may be construed as implying that the *possibility* of bad news should be forecasted prior to the actual consultation, perhaps even before the bad news is certain.

Many authors describe warning as a technique intended "to reduce the element of shock" (Ptacek & Eberhardt, 1996, p. 498). As one group of practitioners explained, "The warning shot will give some indication to the person that they need to come to grips with something that could be unpleasant" (Faulkner et al., 1994, p. 147). Authors have suggested that reducing the shock of the news will have the two-fold effect of reducing anxiety and distress and increasing subsequent comprehension of the information being conveyed. For instance, Baile and colleagues (2000) suggested that warning "may facilitate information processing" (p. 306). No research to date has explicitly tested these presumed effects; however, the need to minimize shock and improve comprehension is evidenced by studies reporting that many patients (47% in one survey of patients with gynecologic cancer) feel "too shocked to take in any details" when first told that they have cancer (Paraskevaidis et al., 1993).

Despite the lack of empirical evidence, warning of impending bad news appears consistent with Sweeny and Shepperd's (2007) bad news response model, which posits that a person's initial expectations regarding the likelihood of a future negative event is

one factor that moderates subsequent emotional reactions when the negative event actually occurs. As these authors explain, research has shown that receiving bad news is particularly distressing when the news is unexpected.

For instance, one study tested college students for a fictitious medical condition and manipulated participants' expectations of receiving positive test results (i.e., bad news) by informing them that college students were either at high risk or low risk for this condition (Shepperd & McNulty, 2002). Participants assigned to the low risk condition were told that it was unlikely they would test positive for this condition, whereas participants in the high risk condition were told that it was likely that at least one student in the group of three being tested would test positive. Participants' mood was assessed before receiving risk information and after receiving results of the test (5 minutes later). After controlling for baseline mood, results indicated that participants who received positive test results displayed worse mood when the results were unexpected (i.e., low risk group) than when the results were expected (i.e., high risk group). The authors suggested that when individuals expect a negative outcome, they are able to prepare themselves emotionally for receiving bad news (Sweeny & Shepperd, 2007). This study provides some preliminary evidence to suggest the potential benefits to forecasting impending bad news; however, further research is needed to examine the effect of warning patients directly, particularly in the manner recommended by current guidelines.

Aside from Shepperd and McNulty's (2002) study, the only other research that has investigated the effect of warning on patient outcomes was conducted in the anesthesiology literature. This research looked at the effect of warning patients of impending pain due to an injection. Findings from this study showed that patients who

were warned that the needle might sting a little prior to receiving an injection actually reported *higher* ratings of pain compared with participants who were told "many people find the arm becomes heavy, numb and tingle tingly," which "allows the drip to be placed more comfortably" (Dutt-Gupta, Bown & Cyna, 2007, p. 872). Though the difference in scenarios and outcome variables prevents direct comparison with Shepperd and McNulty's study, this research does suggest that warning of negative outcomes should not be assumed to be universally beneficial. Experimental research could help to determine whether forecasting bad news, such as a cancer diagnosis, has an effect on patients' mood, as well as other outcomes such as anxiety and information recall. *Framing of Prognostic Information*

Framing has been defined as a manner of communicating that "influences how information is conveyed by supporting some interpretations and downplaying others" (Rodriguez et al., 2008, p. 219). In the case of prognosis, framing refers to whether prognosis is described in terms of positive outcomes (e.g., chance of cure, 5-year survival), negative outcomes (e.g., chance of relapse or death), or both (i.e., mixed framing). Though mentioned less frequently than recommendations for giving a warning, increasing consideration has been given for how to frame prognosis in both practice guidelines (National Breast Cancer Centre and National Cancer Control Initiative of Australia; 2003) and research literature (e.g., Barclay et al., 2007; Hagerty et al., 2005; Rodriguez et al., 2008).

The guidelines developed by the National Breast Cancer Centre and National Cancer Control Initiative of Australia (2003) suggest that physicians "Use mixed framing: give chances of cure first, and then chances of relapse" (p. 50). This

recommendation does not appear to be followed in current practice, as one study found that only 23% of oncologists' comments regarding prognosis used mixed framing. Indeed, some physicians appear to intentionally manipulate the framing of prognosis emphasizing survival rather than death, for example—in order to sound more optimistic or to sustain patient's hope (Rodriguez et al., 2008).

Additionally, as described earlier in this review, studies of patient preferences have revealed interindividual variability across patients and conflicting results across studies. One small study (N = 26) reported that all patients preferred to hear prognosis framed in terms of positive outcomes (Davey et al., 2003). Another reported that 43% of patients preferred positive framing and 33% preferred negative framing (Lobb et al., 1999). Neither study inquired about patients' preferences for mixed framing. In light of this evidence, the rationale behind this guideline is not entirely clear. The recommendation to use mixed framing appears to stem from concern that positive or negative framing alone could bias patients' interpretation of prognostic information, but there are no data to support this concern nor are there explicit hypotheses regarding the effect of positive versus negative versus mixed framing on patient outcomes.

The concern about potential framing bias likely originates in the health behavior literature where the effect of framing on individuals' judgment of risk and the likelihood of engaging in certain health behaviors has been studied extensively. In general, studies in this area report that loss-framed messages (i.e., messages emphasizing the negative consequences of not performing a behavior) are more effective in promoting screening behaviors, whereas gain-framed messages (i.e., messages emphasizing the benefits of performing of a behavior) are more effective in promoting prevention behaviors

(Rothman, Martino, Bedell, Detweiler, & Salovey, 1999). For example, one study found that women were more likely to complete breast self-examinations after reading a lossframed brochure that highlighted the costs of failing to complete breast self-examinations and the risk of dying from breast cancer than a gain-framed brochure highlighting the benefits of breast self-examinations and chances of survival (Williams, Clarke, & Borland, 2001).

Other research has found that framing the risk of potential side effects influences patients' willingness to accept medical treatment. For instance, one study found that patients were significantly more likely to consent to a hypothetical treatment for chest pain described as 99% safe (i.e., gain framing) compared with the same treatment described as causing complications in 1 out of 100 people (i.e., loss framing; Gurm & Litaker, 2000). Similarly, for a hypothetical scenario involving chemotherapy with poor prognosis (probability of surviving less than 50%), cancer patients and healthy volunteers both expressed weaker preference for that treatment when the probability was described in terms of chance of death (i.e., negative framing) than when it was described in terms of chance of survival (i.e., positive framing; O'Connor, 1989).

Unfortunately, results from the studies just described offer little guidance for framing prognostic information. All of these studies targeted a particular behavioral outcome such as a willingness to engage in a health behavior or to accept a treatment. Conveying prognosis, in contrast, is not necessarily intended to produce an immediate or specific change in patients' behavior. In addition, studies have not explored participants' interpretations or recall of the statistical information, nor have they examined the effect of different framing formats on mood or anxiety. These additional outcomes may be
important to consider when studying the framing of prognosis given patients' tendency to overestimate their prognosis (Weeks et al., 1998) and experience psychological distress following receipt of bad news (Butow et al., 1996; Omne-Ponten et al., 1994). Experimental research could help to determine whether framing influences how patients hear and respond to news about their prognosis.

Limitations of Current Guidelines and Previous Research

For over 10 years the lack of empirical evidence has been discussed as a limitation of guidelines on breaking bad news (e.g., Ptacek & Eberhart, 1996; Wittenberg-Lyles, Goldsmith, Sanchez-Reilly, & Ragan, 2008). As Ptacek and Eberhardt argued in their 1996 review, "Common sense suggests that there are better and worse ways to convey bad news and that how the news is conveyed and the circumstances surrounding the receipt of the news have implications for the giver and the receiver. Reliance on common sense, however, is insufficient" (1996, p. 496). Given this longstanding criticism, the paucity of research is striking but perhaps not surprising. Studying communication as it naturally unfolds in health care settings is constrained by practical and ethical limitations. Consequently, most research in this area has been restricted to surveys of patient preferences and retrospective studies using correlational methods. Both methodologies provide only limited evidence. Surveys of preferences offer only one perspective on optimal approaches to health care communication, and patients' preferences may be biased by their own prior experiences of receiving bad news. The issue of bias is also of concern in retrospective designs, which confound patient recall of communication with patient outcomes. Neither approach allows the methodological control necessary to determine whether particular communication

strategies actually influence patient outcomes. Experimental research conducted in a laboratory setting could help to fill this gap by systematically manipulating physicians' communication and then observing how this affects the comprehension and emotional response of people receiving diagnostic and prognostic information.

Several recent studies have had success in studying questions of communication in oncology using a hypothetical scenario methodology. Most of these studies have used a videotape paradigm where research participants are asked to imagine that they are patients receiving news from a videotaped physician. One study randomized 123 healthy breast cancer survivors and 87 age-matched women without cancer to watch one of two videos of a physician discussing treatment options for cancer with a patient (Fogarty, Curbow, Wingard, McDonnell, & Sommerfield, 1999). Half the women saw a standard consultation video; the other half watched an *enhanced compassion* video, which included an additional 40 seconds of empathic and supportive communication in which the physician acknowledged the patient's distress and offered support and reassurance. As expected, there was a significant increase in postvideo anxiety for all participants compared with baseline anxiety (no difference between cancer survivors and healthy controls); however, women who saw the enhanced compassion consultation were significantly less anxious than those who saw the standard consultation that did not include empathic communication. There was no difference between the two groups' recall of information presented in the consultation.

A similar study used a videotape paradigm to compare the effects of three physician communication styles: patient-centered, disease-centered, and emotioncentered (Schmid Mast, Kindlimann, & Langewitz, 2005). Briefly, patient-centered

communication was described as understanding and positive, disease-centered communication was described as blunt and insensitive, and emotion-centered communication was described as kind and sad. Participants were 159 female college students who were randomly assigned to watch a video of a physician disclosing a diagnosis of breast cancer and explaining treatment options to a female patient. Results indicated that participants perceived the patient-centered physician as more emotional and appropriate in conveying the information than the other two communication styles. In addition, participant satisfaction in the patient-centered condition was significantly higher than in both the disease- and emotion-centered videos showed a significant increase in postvideo tension/anger compared with baseline, whereas patients who saw the patientcentered video did not show an increase on this dimension. No other group differences were found for the effect of communication style on participant emotions.

A similar study examined the effect of physician communication style and physician gender on patient satisfaction using a virtual medical visit paradigm (Schmid Mast, Hall, & Roter, 2007). This study was unique because the physician was a computer-generated person who appeared on a computer screen and interacted with participants using prerecorded statements. The 167 college student participants then responded to the physician using scripted prompts that they were asked to put into their own words. Participants were asked to imagine that they had been experiencing headaches and were seeing the doctor to discuss symptoms, test results, and treatment. In contrast to other studies, the scenarios did not involve a diagnosis of cancer or other

serious illness; it is unclear from the article whether the test results involved breaking bad news, though this was not a focus of the study.

Communication style in the videos was varied along two dimensions: physician dominance (high or low) and physician caring (high or low). Physician gender was also manipulated. Results revealed a four-way interaction of physician dominance, physician caring, physician sex, and patient sex. For men communication style did not affect satisfaction in any scenario. In contrast, women who saw a female physician were more satisfied when the physician used a caring style (with no effect for dominance), and women who saw a male physician were less satisfied when the physician used a caring and nondominant style (Schmid Mast et al., 2007).

Although the three studies described here provide preliminary evidence that a video paradigm can be used to study the effects of physician communication, they have weaknesses. Two used college student samples; they examined limited outcomes such as patient satisfaction; and their focus was on broad communication styles, which make it difficult to identify specific communication behaviors that are most important in breaking bad news. The only video study to manipulate a discrete behavior examined the effect of physician posture when breaking bad news, finding that palliative care patients preferred physicians who delivered bad news while sitting down and perceived those physicians to be more compassionate compared with a physician who delivered bad news while standing up (Bruera et al., 2007). This study, however, had substantial limitations; most notably, the researchers showed patients both videos and found an order effect in which patients preferred the physician in the second video regardless of posture.

The videotape paradigm clearly shows promise in contributing to our understanding of optimal approaches to communicating bad news. It is highly controlled, enabling researchers to hold constant variables such as disease type and severity, length of consultation, and the content of the conversation so that specific communication variables of interest can be tested. In addition, the videotape approach allows researchers to assess anxiety, recall, and other important patient outcomes immediately after the bad news conversation, a procedure often not practically possible when using real patients. Despite these benefits, no studies have used this methodology to examine the effects of forecasting bad news or framing prognosis.

CHAPTER 3: RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESES

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine the effects of forecasting bad news and framing prognostic information when people receive a life-limiting diagnosis. An experimental videotape paradigm was used to permit the methodological control absent from most prior studies. Holding constant the other components of a bad news consultation, the two variables of forecasting and framing were manipulated across conditions. This approach maximized the ability of the study to discern differences in individuals' perceptions and affective response according to specific communication behaviors. Participants were randomly assigned to one of four videotape conditions in a two (warning vs. no warning) by two (positive vs. negative framing) factorial design.

Warning Hypotheses

Hypothesis 1. Participants who were warned of impending bad news were expected to report higher positive affect and lower negative affect after receipt of the diagnosis compared with participants who were not warned of the news.

This hypothesis is consistent with expert consensus and with Sweeny and Sheppard's (2007) bad news response model, which posits that individuals who expect a negative outcome will experience less negative affect than those not expecting a negative outcome when the negative outcome occurs.

Hypothesis 2. Participants who were warned of impending bad news were expected to report lower anxiety after receipt of the diagnosis compared with participants who were not warned of the news. This hypothesis is also consistent with the bad news response model (Sweeny & Sheppard, 2007), although the authors do not make specific reference to anxiety in their theory.

Hypothesis 3. Participants who were warned of impending bad news and those who were not were expected to demonstrate equivalent recall of the consultation content.

Though it has been suggested in practice guidelines that forecasting bad news should result in improved recall due to a reduction in anxiety that mediates improved information processing, it was expected that any reduction in anxiety experienced in this study would not be large or significant enough to influence recall of consultation content. Fogarty and colleagues (1999) failed to find improvement in participant recall in their videotape study of physician empathy, despite a significant reduction in anxiety in the enhanced empathy condition. It was anticipated that the effect of warning on anxiety would be smaller than the effect of empathy because of differences in the robustness of the manipulation; the present study uses a one-sentence warning compared with 40 seconds of empathic communication in the study by Fogarty et al. Thus, I did not expect to find an effect of the warning condition on participant recall.

Framing Hypotheses

Hypothesis 4. Participants who heard a positively framed prognosis and those who heard a negatively framed prognosis were hypothesized to be equally accurate in their recall of the statistical percentages given by the physician when explaining prognosis.

Prognosis framing was not expected to influence participants' recall of the prognosis. Though recall has rarely been addressed in prior framing research, one study

of the effect of message framing on breast self-examination reported that participants in positive and negative framing conditions did not differ on recall of the information presented in the pamphlet they read (Myerowitz & Chaiken, 1987).

Hypothesis 5. Participants who heard a negatively framed prognosis were expected to interpret the news as worse than participants who heard a positively framed prognosis.

Though no prior research has addressed the effect of prognosis framing on participants' interpretations of that information, the rationale for this hypothesis is implicit in the definition of framing: communication that "influences how information is conveyed by supporting some *interpretations* and downplaying others" (Rodriguez et al., 2008, p. 219). Consistent with this definition, positive-outcome framing has been cited as a strategy used to imply that there is hope (Lamont & Christakis, 2001; Rodriguez et al., 2008). Furthermore, that positive and negative framing may lead to different interpretations is suggested by a study reporting that positively framed prognoses are perceived as encouraging "determination to manage treatment positively," whereas negatively framed prognoses are perceived as perceived as more "specific/precise" and are interpreted as highlighting the need for additional treatment (Lobb et al., 1999, Box 4).

Hypothesis 6. Participants who heard a negatively framed prognosis were expected to report lower positive affect and higher negative affect compared with participants who heard a positively framed prognosis.

Though no prior research has examined the effect of prognosis framing on affect, logic and expert consensus suggest that the focus on treatment failure and the increased

salience of death in the negative framing condition, in contrast with the focus on treatment success and survival in the positive framing condition, would be associated with worse affect.

Hypothesis 7. Participants who heard a negatively framed prognosis were expected to report higher anxiety compared with participants who heard a positively framed prognosis.

Similar to the hypothesized effects on affect, no prior research has examined the effect of prognosis framing on anxiety. A similar logic, however, suggests that the negative frame's focus on treatment failure and the increased salience of death, in contrast with the focus on treatment success and survival in the positive framing condition, would be associated with greater anxiety.

Hypothesis 8. Participants who heard a negatively framed prognosis were expected to feel less hopeful for the future compared with participants who heard a positively framed prognosis.

Though prior research has not examined the relationship between framing and hopefulness, physicians have reported using positive outcome framing to preserve patient hope (Lamont & Christakis, 2001; Rodriguez et al., 2008). Furthermore, studies have shown that some patients prefer hearing a positively framed prognosis because it "encourages determination to manage treatment positively" (Lobb et al., 1999, Box 4). In addition, a pessimistic attitude has been reported by patients to decrease feelings of hopefulness (Sardell & Trieweiler, 1993).

Additional Research Questions

Personality

I explored relationships between individual differences in personality and participants' affect, anxiety, and hope following the receipt of bad news. Also of interest was whether these individual differences might interact with communication variables (warning and framing) to influence affect, anxiety, and hope. I had no a priori hypotheses about these relationships.

Health Information Style

I also explored relationships between individual differences in health information style and participants' affect, anxiety, and hope following the receipt of bad news. Participants with greater preferences for health information were expected to report lower negative affect, higher positive affect, and lower anxiety after receiving bad news. Also of interest was whether these individual differences might interact with communication variables (warning and framing) to influence affect, anxiety, and hope.

CHAPTER 4: METHODS

Participants

Power

Fogarty and colleagues (1999) reported that the average difference in anxiety (using the STAI-S) between participants who watched an enhanced compassion video of a physician discussing breast cancer and those who watched a standard physician video was 4.7 with a standard deviation of 5.94. This resulted in an effect size (Cohen's d) of .79, which was similar to the effect size reported by another videotape study using the Profile of Mood States to detect differences in the tension/anger domain (Schmid Mast et al., 2005). Despite these rather substantial effect sizes, a decision was made to use a more conservative effect size to determine sample size for the current study because the focus on more narrow aspects of communication such as warning (which was composed of only one statement) and framing (which was manipulated using just two statements) was expected to produce a smaller change in anxiety than the roughly 40 seconds of compassionate statements used to manipulate compassion by Fogarty et al. (1999). In addition, some hypotheses posited a null relation; interpretation of the failure to reject the null hypothesis as reflecting little difference in the populations is more tenable with a larger sample size. Thus for a Cohen's d effect size of .35 on anxiety with a two-tailed significance level of 0.05 and 80% power, a sample of 128 was required.

Participant Characteristics

The 128 participants were healthy, community-dwelling adults ranging in age from 50 to 87 years. Because this study used a hypothetical scenario involving a diagnosis of colon cancer, this age cut-off was selected based on epidemiological data

showing that the risk of developing colon cancer increases substantially after age 50. According to the American Cancer Society, more than 90% of individuals diagnosed with colorectal cancer are over 50 years old, and the organization recommends regular colon cancer screenings (i.e., colonoscopies) beginning at age 50 (American Cancer Society, 2008a).

All participants were recruited from Volunteers for Health, a research participant registry maintained by Barnes Jewish Hospital as well as the Psychology Department's Older Adult Volunteer Pool. Participants were *not* cancer patients, although individuals with personal or family history of cancer were not excluded. Participants were screened for significant cognitive impairment using the Blessed Orientation-Memory-Concentration Test (Katzman et al., 1983). Participants with scores of six or greater were excluded. The only other exclusion criterion was medical training; individuals with training or experience as physicians were excluded from the study. Participants with other allied health training such as nurses, physician's assistants, and pharmacists were not excluded.

Materials

Vignettes

Two vignettes (Appendix A) were used to help participants imagine themselves in a hypothetical medical scenario prior to receiving bad news. The medical information provided in the vignettes was based on current information in the oncologic literature (Mayo Clinic Staff, 2008; National Cancer Institute, 2008). The first vignette asked participants to imagine that they were seeing a physician for recurrent stomach pains. This vignette included a brief description of their symptoms, indicated that they have

seen a doctor once, had undergone a colonoscopy, and were seeing their doctor for the second time today; the goal of the current visit was to discuss the test results from the prior visit.

The second vignette, which participants read later in the experiment, asked them to imagine that they were coming back to see the doctor a week later to receive results from more extensive testing that was done to determine the stage of their cancer. This vignette identified the procedures done in the intervening week and described how the participant was feeling physically.

Videotapes

Overview. In addition to the two vignettes four videotapes were created to examine the research questions posed in this study. Videotapes were modeled after those used in previous studies using this paradigm (e.g., Fogarty et al., 1999); two videos depicted a physician disclosing a diagnosis of colon cancer, and two videos depicted a physician discussing prognosis. The same physician was portrayed in all four videos. Videos were not intended to replicate an entire medical consultation but, rather, were designed to depict only brief 2-minute segments of a typical consultation. Scripts were reviewed for content by a gastroenterologist, a colorectal surgeon, and an oncologist experienced in diagnosis and bad news communication. The medical details and prognostic information included in the videos were based on current information in the oncologic literature (American Cancer Society, 2008b; National Cancer Institute, 2008). Video scripts were developed in accordance with current recommendations for delivering bad news such as expressing empathy and avoiding medical jargon. See Appendix B for copies of the video scripts. Manipulation statements are in bold.

All four videotapes were recorded with an actual physician delivering each script while sitting at a desk in his office. In order to make the experience more realistic for the participant, tapes were recorded with the physician facing the camera as if he were communicating with the participant directly. Videos A1 and A2 were approximately 2 min in duration. Videos B1 and B2 were approximately 1 min 50 sec in duration. Participants viewed videos on a desktop computer screen using the program QuickTime 7.6.

Warning videos (A1 and A2). The bad news warning variable consisted of two levels (warning vs. no warning) and was manipulated in the two diagnosis videos. Both diagnosis videos included the following elements: brief greeting, summary of the patients' symptoms and prior medical visit, description of test results and disclosure of a cancer diagnosis, and brief summary of recommended next steps. In the warning condition (A1) the video script contained one statement not included in the no warning condition (A2): "I'm afraid I have bad news." *[Pauses momentarily, making eye contact with patient.].* Video A2 (no warning) was created using the video footage from video A1 and editing out the warning statement listed above.

Framing Videos (B1 and B2). The prognostic framing variable also had two levels (positive vs. negative-outcome) and was manipulated in the prognosis videos. Both prognosis videos contained a brief greeting, summary of procedures completed since the last visit, a statement about the spread of the disease, recommendations for treatment, disclosure of prognosis statistics, and closing remarks. These videos were identical except for details in two sentences describing prognosis:

- Fortunately, there's about an 80% chance that you will remain cancer free after treatment. In addition, I can tell you that about 65% of people who are your age and have this disease will be alive in 5 years (positive-outcome framing; B1).
- 2. Unfortunately, there's about a 20% chance that your cancer will come back after treatment. In addition, I can tell you that about 35% of people who are your age and have this disease will die within 5 years (negative-outcome framing; B2).

Video B2 (negative framing) was created by editing the video footage from video B1 to replace the two positively framed sentences with the two negatively framed sentences.

Measures

Demographics Variables

Participants provided information about their age, gender, ethnicity, education, and relationship status.

Health

Participants were asked to rate their overall health with one question from the Medical Outcomes Study Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36; Ware, 1993). The question reads: "In general, would you say your health is..." Response options ranged from 1 (*poor*) to 5 (*excellent*) with higher scores indicating better overall health. Participants were also asked about their personal and family/close friend history of serious illness, including cancer. Using a modified listing developed for a study of stress and health in aging, participants reviewed a list of illnesses and conditions including diabetes, cancer, stroke, heart disease, and high blood pressure (Stanford Medical School Investigators, 2008). Participants were asked to indicate whether or not they or their close friends or family members have ever been diagnosed with any of the listed illnesses.

Personality

The NEO Five-Factor Inventory (NEO FFI) was used to assess personality (Costa & McCrae, 1992). The NEO-FFI is a shortened, 60-item version of the NEO Personality Inventory-Revised (NEO PI-R) and is designed to assess the five domains of personality originally described by Costa and McCrae (1992): Extraversion, Agreeableness, Conscientiousness, Emotional Stability/Neuroticism, and Intellect/Openness. Each of the five factors is assessed with 12 statements (e.g., "I am not a worrier;" "I like to have a lot of people around me"). Participants rate the degree to which statement describes them using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). Responses are summed for each factor; scores range from 12 to 60 with higher scores signifying more of the trait. According to the manual internal consistency reliabilities range from .74 to .89. In the current study, Cronbach's alphas for the 5 scales were as follows: Neuroticism, .88; Extraversion, .74; Openness, .74; Agreeableness, .78; and Conscientiousness, .87.

Health Information Style

Participant preferences for information and involvement in medical decisionmaking was assessed with the Information Subscale of the Krantz Health Opinion Survey (KHOS-I; Krantz, Baum & Wideman, 1980). This subscale includes seven statements about individuals' tendency to ask questions during health care consultations as well as the level of involvement they desire in decisions about their own medical care. For each item participants indicate whether they agree (0) or disagree (1) with the statement. Responses from individual items are summed, and scores range from 0 to 7, with higher scores indicating a greater information-seeking style. The KHOS-I has been used

extensively in studies of patient-physician communication and has been shown to predict the number of questions asked by patients in a medical consultation (Krantz et al., 1980) as well as cancer patients' preferences for greater information about their prognosis (Hagerty et al., 2004). Internal consistency reliability for the KHOS-I has been reported at .76 (Krantz et al., 1980). The alpha for the current study was .74.

Dependent Variables

Self-reported mood/affect. The short form of the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (Short PANAS; Kercher, 1992; Mackinnon et al., 1999) was used to assess participants' affect. The Short PANAS consists of 10 adjectives describing particular emotions, selected from the original 20 adjectives in the original PANAS (Watson, Clark & Tellegen, 1988) in an effort to maintain the integrity of the distinct constructs of positive and negative affect. Five of these adjectives describe positive affect (inspired, alert, excited, enthusiastic, determined), and five adjectives describe negative affect (afraid, upset, nervous, scared, distressed). Participants indicate to what extent each adjective describes the way they are feeling at the moment. Response options are presented on five-point Likert scale: 1 (very slightly or not at all), 2 (a little), 3 (moderately), 4 (quite a bit), and 5 (extremely). Separate scores are computed for the positive and negative subscales by summing responses to each item. Scores range from 5 to 25 with higher scores reflecting greater positive (or negative) affect. Previous research has shown the Short PANAS to have good reliability with adults (ages 18 to 79) for both scales (internal consistency of .78 for the positive scale and .87 for the negative affect scale). Similar alphas have been reported with older adults (i.e., 65 years and older; .72 for positive affect and .86 for negative affect). In the current study, alphas were .62, .73,

.81 and .75 for positive affect, and .96, .95, .95, and .95 for negative affect at the prewarning, postwarning, preframing, and postframing assessments, respectively. The low alpha for prewarning positive affect was likely due to the ambiguous meaning of some positive items (e.g., excited) combined with the fact that at this first administration participants were adjusting to the instructions to respond according to how they felt *in that moment*, based on the hypothetical scenario they had just read. By the second (postwarning) administration of the PANAS, participants had adjusted to these instructions and were well immersed in the scenario, resulting in more internally consistent responses.

Anxiety. State anxiety was assessed with the six-item short form State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, State Version (STAI-S; Marteau & Bekker, 1992). This short form survey was created as a more time efficient measure that still maintains the psychometric integrity of the original STAI-S (Spielberger, Gorsuch, Lushene, Vagg, & Jacobs, 1983). The scale was developed by computing item-remainder correlations between each of the 20 statements with the 19 remaining items in the original STAI-S. The authors then selected the three anxiety-present items (I feel tense, I feel upset, I feel worried) and the three anxiety-absent items (I feel calm, I feel relaxed, I feel content) that had the highest item-remainder correlations. The number of items was chosen to balance the minimum number of items with the best possible reliability and correlation with the original scale. The authors also tested 10-, 8-, 4-, and 2-item versions of the scale.

Like the original STAI-S, participants rate their current feelings on a 4-point Likert scale: 1 (*not at all*), 2 (*somewhat*), 3 (*moderately*), 4 (*very much*). Responses to each item are summed. Scores range from 6 to 24 with higher scores indicating greater

anxiety. The 6-item scale has a reported alpha-reliability of .82 in pregnant outpatients, and scores on the abbreviated scale correlate .91 with the scores on the 20-item scale (Marteau & Bekker, 1992). In the current study, alphas were .93, .92, .91, and .90 at the prewarning, postwarning, preframing, and postframing assessments, respectively.

Information recall. After the diagnosis video, participants answered six yes/no questions (Appendix C) developed for this study to test recall of the information provided by the physician regarding diagnosis (name and details of condition), treatment, and recommendations. Correct answers were summed, and scores ranged from 0 to 6, with higher scores indicating better recall.

Prognosis recall. First, participants were presented with one free-recall question which asked them to "write what you remember the doctor telling you <u>about what to</u> <u>expect in the future</u>, especially any percentages or statistics that the doctor gave you." These qualitative responses were not analyzed in the current study. Next, two cued-recall questions asked participants to recall the information provided about their prognosis (chances of recurrence; 5-year survival rate or 5-year mortality rate). For instance, participants in the positive framing condition were asked, "What are the chances that you will remain cancer free after treatment?" Participants in the negative framing condition were asked, "What are the chances that your cancer will come back after treatment?" Similarly, participants in the positive framing condition were asked, "What percentage of people who are your age and have this disease are alive in 5 years?" Participants in the negative framing condition were asked, "What percentage of people who are your age and have this disease are alive in 5 years?" Participants in the negative framing condition were asked, "What percentage of people who are your age and have this disease?" In each case, participants were instructed to record the percentage given by the doctor for that particular prognostic statement.

Interpretations of prognosis. In addition to their ability to recall the percentages provided, we assessed participants' interpretations of the prognostic information conveyed. After the prognosis video participants rated the news they received from the physician on a 100-point scale ranging from 0 (*worst news I could have ever received*) to 100 (*best news I could have ever received*). A similar measure (on a 10-point scale) has been used in previous studies of communication in cancer (e.g., Gattellari et al., 2002).

Hopefulness. Participants' feelings of hopefulness for the future were assessed using a modified version of the Life Orientation Test-Revised (LOT-R; Scheier, Carver & Bridges, 1994). This scale includes 10 statements; 3 statements are positively framed (e.g., Overall, I expect more good things to happen to me than bad), 3 statements are negatively framed (e.g., If something can go wrong for me, it will), and 4 statements are unscored filler items. Participants rate their agreement with each statement on a 5-point Likert scale: 0 (strongly disagree), 1 (disagree), 2 (neutral—neither agree nor disagree), 3 (agree), 4 (strongly agree). Participants in this study were instructed to rate their agreement now, after hearing the news from the physician. Scores ranges from 0 to 24, with higher scores indicating greater hopefulness. Although the LOT-R was originally developed as a trait measure, the scale has been used as an outcome variable in psychological intervention studies with cancer patients, who had increased positive orientation on the LOT-R following a stress management intervention (Antoni et al., 2001). A Cronbach's alpha of .78 has been reported for the six scored items (Scheier et al., 1994). Alphas for the current study were .85 at the prevideo assessment and .80 at the postvideo assessment.

In addition to this standardized questionnaire, hope was assessed by asking participants to rate how hopeful they felt in nine domains: that they will live 1 year; live 5 years; live 10 years; live longer than the doctor expects; receive the treatment they need; the cancer will never return after treatment; they will remain independent after treatment; any pain or symptoms will be well controlled; and that they will be well cared for and supported. Finally, participants rated how hopeful they felt about the future overall. All ten of these ratings were made on a 100-point scale, ranging from 0 (*not at all hopeful*) to 100 (*extremely hopeful*). Cronbach's alpha for the ten items was .88. See Appendix D for the full questionnaire.

Procedure

Potential participants from Volunteers for Health and the Psychology Department's Older Adult Volunteer Pool were screened by phone for medical training or significant cognitive impairment. Those who met the criteria described in the previous section were invited to participate. Participants generally reviewed the consent documents and completed the demographics questions, a personality inventory, and health information style measures at home prior to coming to their appointment. The experiment itself was conducted at the Psychological Services Center, and the consent process was administered in a therapy room, which was intended to mimic the waiting room in a doctor's office. After providing informed consent, participants who elected not to fill out the baseline assessment measures at home completed those questionnaires in the therapy room. See Table 1 for a timeline of procedures and assessments. Participants were randomly assigned to one of four videotape conditions: (a) warning, positive outcome framing, (b) no warning, positive outcome framing, (c) warning,

negative outcome framing, and (d) no warning, negative outcome framing. Randomization was conducted using the random list generator at the website www.random.org. Each participant watched one of two diagnosis videos, in which the bad news warning was manipulated, followed by one of two prognosis videos, in which the framing of the prognostic information was manipulated.

Table 1

Time of Procedures and Assessments

Step	Activity
1	Obtain demographics Assess personality Assess health information style
2	Read Vignette A (initial symptoms and tests) Write about thoughts and feelings (2.5 minutes)
3	Administer affect and anxiety measures (first time)
4	Watch Video A (cancer diagnosis)
5	Administer affect and anxiety measures (second time) Recall information provided by physician
6	Write about thoughts and feelings concerning cancer diagnosis (5 minutes)
	BREAK (5 minutes)
7	Read Vignette B (interim surgery and biopsy) Write about thoughts and feelings (2 minutes)
8	Administer affect and anxiety measures (third time) Administer hopefulness scale (first time)
9	Watch Video B (prognosis)
10	Administer affect and anxiety measures (fourth time) Administer hopefulness scale (second time) Recall prognosis Interpret prognosis Rate hopefulness domains

Prior to watching the first video all participants read a brief vignette that instructed them to imagine that they were seeing a physician for recurrent stomach pains. As described previously, the vignette (Appendix A) included a brief description of their symptoms and an explanation that they were seeing their doctor for the second time to discuss the test results from the prior visit. After reading the vignette, participants were asked to imagine that they were in this situation and to write for 2.5 minutes about what they are thinking and feeling. The writing task was intended to help participants imagine themselves in the medical scenario. Immediately after writing participants completed baseline affect and anxiety measures. They were then be taken into a private experiment room where they were reminded again to imagine that they were really meeting with the doctor and that the doctor would be speaking to them about their test results. After the experimenter left the participant alone and closed the door, participants watched one of the two videos of a physician disclosing a diagnosis of cancer. Immediately after watching the first video participants again completed affect and anxiety measures as well as questionnaires that assessed their recall of the information provided. These questionnaires were administered with pencil and paper and were concealed in a folder until after participants had viewed the video.

Participants were then taken back to the original therapy room where they were asked to think about the news they had just received. As a filler task before viewing the second video, participants were instructed to think about the news they had received (i.e., the diagnosis of colon cancer) and about preparing for the recommended surgery and to write about their thoughts and feelings about their situation for 5 minutes. When they

finished writing all participants were given a 5-minute break, during which time they could use the rest room, get a drink of water, or read a magazine.

Following the break, all participants read a second vignette (Appendix A) that instructed them to imagine that they were coming back approximately a week later to receive results from more extensive testing that was done to determine the stage of their cancer. Participants then completed measures of anxiety, affect, and hopefulness before being taken back to the private experiment room where they watched a second video that depicted the same physician discussing prognosis and treatment for colon cancer. Following this second video participants repeated affect, anxiety, and hopefulness measures as well as questionnaires that assessed their recall of the prognosis, interpretations of prognosis, and additional ratings of hope. Finally, participants were debriefed and paid \$15 for their participation.

CHAPTER 5: PILOT STUDIES

A pilot study was conducted with the stimuli described in the previous chapter in order to determine the feasibility of using a videotape paradigm and to examine participants' ability to detect the manipulation statements. Individuals read two vignettes described previously (see Appendix B). The first vignette asked participants to imagine that they had been experiencing stomach pains, had undergone a colonoscopy, and were going to the doctor to hear the results of additional tests. The second vignette asked participants to imagine that they had undergone surgery for colon cancer and were going back to the doctor to hear the results of additional tests. After reading each vignette participants watched a video of a doctor speaking with them and then completed questions designed to test the effectiveness of the manipulation.

Ten older adults (aged 50 to 85 years) completed the pilot study. For the warning video 100% were able to correctly identify whether they had received a warning of bad news prior to being told that they had colon cancer. For the prognosis video 80% of participants were able to correctly identify the framing of their chances of the treatment getting rid of the cancer, and 90% were able to correctly identify whether they had been told their chances of survival or their chances of death.

A qualitative review of individual warning data revealed two participants who did not specifically remember the warning "I'm afraid I have bad news" in response to a freerecall question. Despite being unable to recall this specific phrase, these participants did report that the physician had let them know that the news was going to be bad; all 5 participants in the no warning condition reported that the physician did not say anything to let them know that the news was going to be bad.

A qualitative review of the prognosis framing data revealed three participants who erroneously reported that the physician had given them one of the two prognostic statements framed in both positive and negative terms. When queried, it became apparent that some participants recognized that the two phrases were statistically equivalent, but they were correctly able to identify which framing had been given to them. The question was modified to emphasize recall of the exact phrases uttered by the physician; this modification appeared to be effective; all subsequent participants correctly recalled the prognosis they had received after the question was changed. Notably, the prognosis statements in the scripts tested in the pilot study included ranges of percentages that were partially overlapping (e.g., 60 to 65% of people who are your age and have this disease will be alive in 5 years; there is a 55 to 60% that the cancer will come back after treatment.). I removed the ranges of percentages in order to reduce the load placed on participants' memory and potential confusion between the two prognostic phrases.

Participants reported that the computer screen on which the videos were displayed was a comfortable size and the videos were audible and easy to understand. After the experiment several participants commented on similar medical events experienced by themselves or their loved ones; they reported no difficulty in imagining themselves in the situation described.

CHAPTER 6: RESULTS

Descriptive and inferential statistics were used to assess equivalence of the four warning/framing groups on several demographic and health-related variables. Two analyses of variance (ANOVA) were computed to determine whether participants in the four warning and framing conditions differed by age or self-reported health (see Table 2). Chi-square tests of association were computed to determine if participants in the four conditions differed by gender, ethnicity, education, relationship status, personal history of cancer, or having a family member or friend with cancer (see Table 3). There were no significant differences between groups on any of these variables (all ps > .05); therefore, none were included as covariates in subsequent analyses.

Table 2

	Positive frame		Negativ		
	Warning ^a	No warning ^a	Warning ^a	No warning ^a	<i>F</i> (3, 124)
Age (years)	69.12 (8.81)	66.41 (9.03)	71.69 (10.75)	68.78 (11.14)	1.50
Health	3.56 (.95)	3.84 (0.77)	3.47 (1.02)	3.56 (.98)	0.97

Means (and Standard Deviations) of Participant Characteristics by Condition

Note. Condition means compared with ANOVAs. All ps > .05. Health ratings were on a 4-point scale ranging from 1 (*poor*) to 4 (*excellent*).

^an = 32 for each condition.

Table 3

	Positive frame		Negative frame		
	Warning ^a	No warning ^a	Warning ^a	No warning ^a	$\chi^2(df)$
Gender					
Female	53	59	53	37	3.35 (3)
Race					
Black	6	3	6	6	0.45 (3)
White	94	97	94	94	
Education					
High School/GED	13	13	19	28	10.6 (15)
Some college	22	28	19	28	
College degree	31	25	25	13	
Some grad school	9	6	0	6	
Master's degree	22	22	31	22	
Professional degree	3	6	6	3	
Relationship status					
Never married	3	13	13	6	15.3 (9)
Married/partnered	62	56	47	75	
Widowed	16	6	28	3	
Separated/divorced	19	25	12	16	
Personal cancer hx	28	22	38	19	3.36 (3)
Family/friend cancer hx	84	75	88	72	3.28 (3)

Percentages of Participant Characteristics by Condition

Note. All ps > .05. Personal cancer hx = Positive personal history of cancer. Family/friend cancer hx = Positive family or friend history of cancer.

^a n = 32 for each condition.

Tests of Hypotheses

Warning Hypotheses

The first set of data analyses addressed hypotheses concerning warning or no warning about bad news. The measures used in these analyses included the affect, anxiety, and content memory scores collected immediately before and after viewing the first video. Half of the participants saw a video with a warning and the other half saw a video without a warning.

Prior to conducting the primary analyses, a manipulation check was conducted to determine whether participants in the two warning conditions were able to detect whether or not they had received a warning. After viewing the first video, participants were asked, "Right before the doctor told you that you had cancer, did he say anything that let you know that the news was going to be bad?" Participants in the warning condition should have answered yes to this question, and participants in the no warning condition should have answered no. A chi-square test of association revealed a significant difference in the two groups' responses to this question, $\chi^2(1, N = 128) = 22.8$, p < .001. Seventy-one percent of the sample (91 participants) correctly identified whether the physician had warned them of the impending bad news. Of the 29% who did not, 20 participants (54%) in the no-warning condition erroneously thought they received a warning, and 17 participants (46%) in the warning condition did not realize they received a warning. Subsequent warning hypotheses were tested with data from the full sample as well as the subsample of 91 participants who correctly identified the warning condition to which they had been randomized.

- Hypothesis 1. Participants who are warned of impending bad news will report higher positive affect and lower negative affect after receipt of the diagnosis compared with participants who are not warned of the news.
- Hypothesis 2. Participants who are warned of impending bad news will report lower anxiety after receipt of the diagnosis compared with participants who are not warned of the news.

Means and standard deviations for the affect and anxiety measures are presented in Table 4. In order to test the effect of warning on these measures, individual unstandardized residuals for each of the three dependent variables were first calculated in order to partial out the variance in prevideo affect and anxiety scores. Specifically, postvideo scores were regressed on prevideo scores in a linear regression for each of the measures. The estimates of postvideo scores from these regression equations were then subtracted from the observed postvideo scores. The resultant residual postvideo scores for positive affect, negative affect, and anxiety were entered as dependent variables in a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA). Group (warning vs. no warning) was entered as a between-subjects variable. Results of the MANOVA failed to yield a significant multivariate effect of warning group, Pillai's trace V = .01, F(3, 124) = 0.49 p= .69.

To ensure that the nonsignificant effect of warning was not due to participants' failure to identify the manipulation (warning vs. no warning), several additional analyses were conducted. First, a MANOVA was conducted for each condition (i.e., warning and no warning) comparing those who had accurately identified the manipulation with those

who had not on residualized positive affect, negative affect, and anxiety scores. For both the warning and no-warning conditions, there was no significant difference between the Table 4

Means and Standard Deviations of Positive Affect, Negative Affect, and Anxiety by Warning Condition

	Warning ^b		No warning ^b	
	M	SD	M	SD
Positive Affect				
Prevideo positive affect	12.68	3.36	12.36	4.07
Postvideo positive affect	13.75	4.34	13.20	3.99
Negative Affect				
Prevideo negative affect	11.90	6.13	12.68	6.44
Postvideo negative affect	19.12	5.73	18.64	6.19
Anxiety				
Prevideo anxiety	13.64	5.97	14.44	5.51
Postvideo anxiety	18.66	5.13	18.55	5.42

Note. Positive and negative affect scores each ranged from 5 to 25, with higher scores reflecting greater positive (or negative) affect. Anxiety scores ranged from 6 to 24 with higher scores indicating greater anxiety.

^a N = 128. ^b n = 64 for each condition.

accurate and inaccurate subgroups, warning Pillai's Trace V = .01, F(3, 60) = 0.26, p = .88, no-warning Pillai's Trace V = .01, F(3, 60) = 0.24 p = .87.

An additional MANOVA was conducted using only participants who had correctly identified the warning condition to which they were randomized. That is, participants were eliminated from this analysis if they did not receive a warning but erroneously reported that they had or if they did receive a warning but erroneously reported that they had not. The multivariate effect of warning with this subsample remained nonsignificant, Pillai's Trace V = .01, F(3, 87) = 0.28, p = 84. As can be seen in Table 5, means and standard deviations for the three outcome measures in this subsample were similar to those in the full sample shown in Table 4.

Hypothesis 3. Participants who are warned of impending bad news and those who are not will demonstrate equivalent recall of the consultation content.

An independent samples *t* test was conducted to compare mean recall scores of consultation content between the two groups (warning vs. no warning). As expected, there was no difference in recall between those who received a warning (M = 5.73, SD = 0.51) and those who did not (M = 5.71, SD = 0.49), t(126) = 0.16, p = .86. These results remained the same when participants who did not accurately recall the warning manipulation were excluded. Those in the warning group (M = 5.85, SD = .36) were similar to those in the no warning group (M = 5.82, SD = .39), t(89) = -0.42, p = .68.

Table 5

Means and Standard Deviations of Positive Affect, Negative Affect, and Anxiety by Warning Condition for Participants Who Accurately Identified the Warning

	Warning ^a		No warning ^b	
-	M	SD	M	SD
Positive Affect				
Prevideo Positive Affect	12.70	3.32	12.55	4.03
Postvideo Positive Affect	13.87	4.24	13.47	3.83
Negative Affect				
Prevideo Negative Affect	11.62	6.28	12.25	6.57
Postvideo Negative Affect	19.19	5.90	18.70	5.90
Anxiety				
Prevideo Anxiety	13.58	6.09	14.23	5.56
Postvideo Anxiety	18.79	5.20	18.61	5.43

Note. Positive affect and negative affect scores each range from 5 to 25 with higher scores reflecting

greater positive (or negative) affect. Anxiety scores range from 6 to 24 with higher scores indicating greater anxiety.

^a n = 47. ^b n = 44.

Framing Hypotheses

The second set of data analyses addressed framing of the prognosis. These analyses were more complex because they incorporate not only the differences in framing (positive vs. negative) but also the previous manipulation of warning versus no warning. Because the previous results indicated that the warning manipulation had no effect on affect, anxiety, or recall, however, data were collapsed across warning condition for some of the ensuing analyses.

Hypothesis 4. Participants who hear a positively framed prognosis and those who hear a negatively framed prognosis will be equally accurate in their recall of the statistical percentages given by the physician when explaining prognosis.

This hypothesis was examined using responses to two cued recall questions. For instance, participants in the negative frame were asked "What are the chances that the cancer will come back after treatment?" and "What percentage of people who are your age and have this disease will die within 5 years?" Participants were asked to respond with the associated statistic (percentage). Thus, to examine this hypothesis, recalled percentages were compared with the actual percentages given by the physician in the videotapes. Responses of "don't know" or "can't remember" were treated as inaccurate recall.

Participants were first placed into one of three groups according to the total number of statistics they recalled accurately (i.e., reported exactly correct): (a) those who accurately recalled both prognostic statistics, (b) those who accurately recalled one statistic but not the other, and (c) those who recalled neither prognostic statistic accurately (Figure 1). A chi-square test of association was then conducted to determine if

accuracy varied between the positive and negative framing conditions. As hypothesized, there was no difference between the positive and negative framing groups on overall recall of the prognostic statistics, $\chi^2(2, N = 128) = 3.62, p = .83$.



Figure 1. Number of participants in positive and negative framing conditions who accurately recalled the two prognostic statistics

Examining the two prognostic statistics separately produced similar results. The number of people in each of the framing conditions who correctly recalled prognostic statistic 1 and prognostic statistic 2 are shown in Figure 2.


Figure 2. Number of participants in positive and negative framing conditions who correctly recalled the two prognostic statistics. Statistic 1 presented the chances of remaining cancer free after treatment (80%; positive frame) or the chances of the cancer coming back (20%; negative frame). Statistic 2 presented the percentage of patients with colon cancer who are still alive in 5 years (65%; positive frame) or the percentage of patients with this disease who die within 5 years (35%; negative frame).

The number of people who accurately recalled the prognostic statistic and those who did not did not differ significantly between the positive and negative framing groups for the first prognostic statistic (i.e., chances of the cancer coming back vs. chances of remaining cancer free), $\chi^2(1, N = 128) = 0.32$, p = .58, or for the second prognostic statistic (i.e., percentage of patients who die within 5 years vs. percentage who are still alive in 5 years), $\chi^2(1, N = 128) = 2.02$, p = .15. When, however, recall accuracy for the

first and second statistics was compared within each framing condition using McNemar's exact test for correlated proportions, recall of the first statistic was similar to the second for the negative frame condition (64 vs. 61%; p = .85), but recall accuracy for the second statistic was considerably lower than recall of the first statistic in the positive frame condition (69 vs. 48%, p = .02).

Additional analyses were conducted to explore any patterns that might help to explain such a drop in accuracy in the positive framing group. The goal of these analyses was to differentiate participants according to how close they were to recalling the prognostic statistics accurately. First, participants were placed into one of five groups based on the absolute value of the difference between the percentage they recalled and the actual percentage that was provided by the physician. For these analyses, participants who responded "don't know" or "can't remember" were placed into a separate category from participants who recalled a statistic but did so inaccurately. The five categories were: (a) accurate recall, (b) 1 to 10 percentage points off, (c) 11 to 20 percentage points off (this category included participants who reversed the two statistics presented by the physician: 20 vs. 35% or 80 vs. 65%), (d) more than 20 percentage points off, and (e) don't know/can't remember. The number of participants who fell into each of the five categories is shown in Figure 3 for each framing condition for the first statistic (top panel) and also for the second statistic (bottom panel).

For the first prognostic statistic (i.e., chances of remaining cancer free vs. chances of the cancer coming back), there was no difference between the positive and negative framing conditions across these five accuracy groups, $\chi^2(4, N = 128) = 3.33, p = .51$. Likewise, for the second prognostic statistic there was also no significant difference

between the positive and negative framing conditions (i.e., percentage of patients are still alive in 5 years vs. percentage who patients who die within 5 years), though this effect did approach significance, $\chi^2(4, N = 128) = 8.72$, p = .07.

Although recall accuracy did not differ significantly for either statistic based on prognosis framing, inspection of the frequencies presented in the bottom panel of Figure 3 show a greater tendency for those in the positive condition to report statistics that were 1 to 15 percentage points off the second statistic they were given. Notably, 25% of participants in the positive frame were 15 percentage points off, compared with 13% of participants in the negative frame. Further examination of this subset revealed a disproportionate number of participants in the positive condition who paired the first percentage (80%) with the second phrase (percentage of people who are still alive in 5 years). Indeed, 20% (n = 13) of participants in the negative condition made this error, compared with only 8% (n = 5) of participants in the negative condition who paired the first percentage (20%) with the second phrase (percentage of people who die within 5 years). Participants in the positive condition were also somewhat less likely to respond with "don't know" or "can't remember" than participants in the negative condition (3 vs. 11%).



Figure 3. Recall accuracy for the first (top panel) and second (bottom panel) prognostic statistics, by framing condition. "1-10 Off"=1 to 10 percentage points away from the actual statistic presented by the physician' "15 Off"= 15 percentage points away (e.g, reversed the two statistics presented by the physician (80 vs. 65%; 20 vs. 35%); "20+ Off"= 20 percentage points away or more; "DK"=don't know or can't remember.

In a final exploratory analysis, participants were placed into one of three groups according to their recall of the second prognostic statistic: (a) accurate recall, (b) optimistic recall (i.e., overestimated survival rate in the positive frame or underestimated mortality rate in the negative frame), or (c) pessimistic recall (i.e., underestimated survival rate in the positive frame or overestimated mortality rate in the negative frame). For this analysis, participants who responded with "don't know/can't remember" were excluded. A chi-square test comparing the number in each of these three categories in the two framing conditions (Figure 4) was not significant, $\chi^2(2, N = 119) = 4.37, p = .11$; however, more individuals in the positive condition provided an optimistic response (33%; n = 21), compared with the negative condition (17%; n = 11).





Hypothesis 5. Participants who hear a negatively framed prognosis will interpret the news as worse than participants who hear a positively framed prognosis.

Means and standard deviations for participants' ratings of the news after viewing the prognosis video are presented in Table 6.

Table 6

Means and Standard Deviations of Bad News Ratings After Prognosis

Video by Condition

	Positive frame		Negative frame	
	М	SD	М	SD
Warning	60.61	24.52	34.84	25.19
No warning	61.56	25.16	41.50	28.10
Total	61.09	24.65	38.17	26.68

Note. Scale ranges from 0 to 100, with lower scores indicating worse news ratings.

These 0 to 100 ratings of bad news were examined as the dependent variable in a two-bytwo factorial ANOVA with warning condition (warning vs. no warning) as one independent variable and framing (positive vs. negative) as the other (Table 7). As hypothesized, the ANOVA revealed a significant effect of framing. As illustrated in Figure 5, individuals who heard the prognosis framed in negative terms rated the news as significantly worse than those who heard a positively framed prognosis, F(1,124) = 25.28 p < .001. There was no significant main effect for warning vs. no warning, nor for the interaction of warning with framing.

Table 7

Analysis of	Variance	for Bad	News	Rating	of Prog	enosis
						,

Source of variation	df	F	η^2	р
Warning	1	0.70		.41
Framing	1	25.28*	.96	<.001
Warning x Framing	1	0.39		.53
Error	124	(664.57)		

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square error.



Figure 5. Mean bad news ratings of prognosis (+/- 95% CI) in positive (n = 64) and negative (n = 64) framing conditions. High score indicates good news.

Hypothesis 6. *Participants who hear a negatively framed prognosis will report lower positive affect and higher negative affect compared with participants who hear a positively framed prognosis.*

Hypothesis 7. Participants who hear a negatively framed prognosis will report higher anxiety than participants who hear a positively framed prognosis.

Means and standard deviations for the affect and measures are presented in Table 8; those for anxiety are in Table 9. Similar to the analyses for anxiety and affect for the warning condition, prevideo variance was partialled out by calculating individual unstandardized residuals for each of the three dependent variables (positive affect, negative affect, anxiety). As before, postvideo scores were regressed on prevideo scores in a linear regression for each of the measures. The estimates produced by each regression equation were then subtracted from the variable's observed postvideo scores. The resultant residualized postvideo scores for positive affect, negative affect, and anxiety were entered as dependent variables in a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA). Warning (warning vs. no warning) and framing (positive vs. negative framing) were entered as between-subjects variables. Results of the MANOVA revealed a significant multivariate effect of framing, Pillai's Trace V = .142, F(3, 122) = 6.71, p < .001, but not for warning, Pillai's Trace V = .04, F(3, 122) = 1.49, p = .22.

Inspection of the univariate tests for framing revealed that, as hypothesized, there was a significant effect of framing on both negative affect, F(1, 124) = 19.48, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .13$, and anxiety, F(1, 124) = 7.03, p = .009, $\eta^2 = .05$. Individuals who heard their prognosis framed in a negative way were significantly more distressed after hearing this

news than individuals who heard their prognosis framed in a positive way. This main effect of framing is illustrated in Figure 6. There was no significant effect of framing on positive affect, F(1, 124) = .01, p = .91.

Framing condition ^a	War	Warning		No warning	
	М	SD	М	SD	
I	Prevideo positive affec	t			
Positive frame	14.59	4.94	13.00	4.48	
Negative frame	13.44	4.47	14.95	4.17	
P	ostvideo positive affec	ct			
Positive frame	14.56	4.77	13.21	4.13	
Negative frame	13.91	3.99	14.09	4.17	
F	revideo negative affec	et			
Positive frame	16.25	5.94	15.63	6.45	
Negative frame	14.06	5.91	15.78	5.73	
Р	ostvideo negative affe	ct			
Positive frame ^b	17.72	4.39	16.34	6.36	
Negative frame ^b	18.13	5.99	20.38	5.27	

Means and Standard Deviations of Positive and Negative Affect

Note. Positive affect and negative affect scores each range from 5 to 25 with high scores reflecting greater positive (or negative) affect.

Means and Standard Deviations of Anxiety

Framing condition ^a	Warning		No warning	
	М	SD	М	SD
Prevideo	anxiety			
Positive frame	16.94	5.27	17.78	5.36
Negative frame	15.59	5.55	17.38	4.32
Postvide	o anxiety			
Positive frame	18.28	3.72	17.97	5.32
Negative frame	17.69	5.68	20.12	4.40

Note. Anxiety scores range from 6 to 24 with higher scores indicating greater anxiety.



Figure 6. Effect of framing on residualized positive affect, negative affect and anxiety.

Hypothesis 8. *Participants who hear a negatively framed prognosis are expected to feel less hopeful for the future than participants who hear a positively framed prognosis.*

This hypothesis was tested in two separate analyses. The first analysis assessed group differences in hope as indexed by the Life-Orientation Test-Revised (LOT-R). For this analysis, variance in prevideo LOT-R scores first was partialled out by calculating unstandardized residuals for the postvideo LOT-R scores. Postvideo LOT-R scores were regressed on prevideo LOT-R scores in a linear regression. The estimates produced by this regression equation were then subtracted from the observed postvideo LOT-R scores to calculate residuals. Finally, a univariate ANOVA was conducted, entering the unstandardized residuals for postvideo LOT-R score as the dependent variable. The two between-subjects independent variables were warning (warning vs. no warning) and framing (positive vs. negative). Results from this ANOVA are presented in Table 10. Contrary to hypothesis, the effect of framing was not statistically significant for hopefulness, F(1, 124) = 1.44, p = .23. There was also no significant main effect of warning, or warning by framing interaction.

Table 10

Source of variation	df	F	р
Warning	1	.17	.69
Framing	1	1.44	.23
Warning x Framing	1	.02	.89
Error	124	(5.84)	

Analysis of Variance for Ratings of Hopefulness (LOT-R) by Condition

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square error. LOT-R: Life Orientation Test-Revised.

In addition to this standardized questionnaire, hope was assessed by asking participants to rate their feelings of hopefulness in nine domains as well as their overall hopefulness for the future (Table 11). In a second analysis these 0 to 100 ratings of hope were entered as dependent variables in a MANOVA. Again, the two between-subjects variables were warning (warning vs. no warning) and framing (positive vs. negative framing). Results revealed a significant multivariate effect of framing, Pillai's Trace V =.15, F(10, 112) = 2.01, p = .04; there was no significant effect of warning, Pillai's Trace V = .10, F(10, 112) = 1.23, p = .28, or interaction of warning by framing, Pillai's Trace V =.11, F(10, 112) = 2.41, p = .18.

Univariate tests revealed a significant effect of framing on four hopefulness items as well as overall hopefulness (Table 12). For all of the statistically significant differences, participants in the negative framing group reported feeling less hopeful than participants in the positive framing group.

Means and Standard Deviations of Hopefulness Ratings by Condition

Framing condition	Warning		No wa	arning			
	М	SD	М	SD			
	Live 1 year						
Positive frame	90.25	20.43	96.45	10.82			
Negative frame	92.71	18.01	98.23	3.78			
	Live 5	years					
Positive frame	84.84	16.49	86.52	17.91			
Negative frame	71.77	29.23	68.06	29.60			
Live 10 years							
Positive frame	67.03	28.59	66.29	28.28			
Negative frame	52.10	28.77	50.48	35.60			
Liv	ve longer than	doctor expects					
Positive frame	72.81	24.13	78.87	22.50			
Negative frame	63.06	28.22	64.52	36.84			
F	Receive treatme	ent you need					
Positive frame	89.53	16.48	97.42	5.61			
Negative frame	95.29	10.86	83.06	28.33			
	Cancer nev	er return					
Positive frame	64.87	26.76	77.90	23.87			
Negative frame	62.39	28.00	55.32	36.15			

Table 11 (continued)

Framing condition	Wai	Warning		Warning No		No warning	
-	М	SD	М	SD			
	Independent af	er treatment					
Positive frame	77.97	22.43	87.26	16.53			
Negative frame	78.39	22.45	75.97	30.29			
Pain/symptoms well controlled							
Positive frame	81.03	21.72	85.61	14.67			
Negative frame	76.94	23.37	74.68	25.49			
	Be well cared for	and supported					
Positive frame	86.16	16.82	92.42	12.51			
Negative frame	84.48	20.93	88.71	21.05			
Hopefulness overall							
Positive frame	79.81	20.43	85.81	16.99			
Negative frame	72.52	23.27	67.68	29.75			

Note. All ratings range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating greater hopefulness

Univariate Tests for Hopefulness Ratings by Framing Condition

Source of variation	df	F	Р
Live 1 year	3	1.86	.14
Live 5 years	3	4.61	.004
Live 10 years	3	2.65	.05
Live longer than doctor expects	3	2.11	.10
Receive treatment you need	3	4.21	.007
Cancer never return	3	3.27	.02
Independent after treatment	3	1.43	.24
Pain/symptoms well controlled	3	1.53	.21
Be well cared for and supported	3	1.12	.34
Hopefulness overall	3	3.72	.01

.

Additional Research Questions

Personality and Health Information Style

Pearson correlations between the five personality factors (Neuroticism, Extraversion, Intellect/Openness, Conscientiousness, and Agreeableness) and the residualized positive affect, negative affect, and anxiety scores after the warning video are presented in Table 13. Although neuroticism was significantly, although modestly, correlated with all three residualized dependent measures, extraversion was correlated only with positive affect, and the remaining three personality factors were not significantly correlated with any of the dependent measures. Similarly, health information style, as measured by the KHOS-I, was uncorrelated with the three dependent measures. Table 13

Intercorrelations Among Personality and Residualized Affect and Anxiety Scores after the Warning Video

	Positive affect	Negative affect	Anxiety
Neuroticism	28**	.23**	.18*
Extraversion	.18*	01	.009
Openness	03	03	02
Agreeableness	.05	.05	.02
Conscientiousness	.16	.07	03
KHOS-I	.06	.08	01
Warning Condition	.05	.10	.07

Note. KHOS-I= Krantz Health Opnion Scale-Information Subscale

*p < .05. **p < .01.

Separate hierarchical regression analyses were conducted using residualized positive affect, negative affect, and anxiety as dependent variables. I entered warning condition (warning vs. no warning) in Step 1, the five personality factor scores as a set in Step 2, followed by five two-way interactions (warning condition by each of the five personality factors) in Step 3. In the regressions for positive affect and anxiety, none of the three steps were statistically significant (results not shown). Results of the hierarchical regression for negative affect are summarized in Table 14. Warning condition in Step 1 explained no variance in negative affect, F(1, 126) = 1.20, p = .28. When the five personality factors were entered in Step 2, the model explained 11% of the variance in residualized negative affect following the warning video, F(5, 121) = 3.07, p = .01; only Neuroticism was significant ($\beta = .42$, p < .001). Finally, the five two-way interactions entered in Step 3 explained no additional variance in residualized negative affect, F(5, 116) = .44, p = .82.

Similar results were revealed when these regression analyses were repeated including health information style as measured by the KHOS-I along with the 5 personality factor scores in Step 2, as well as the interaction of warning condition and health information style in Step 3. In the regressions for positive affect and anxiety, none of the three steps were statistically significant (results not shown). For negative affect, neither Step 1, F(1, 126) = 1.20, p = .28, nor Step 3 F(5, 116) = .44, p = .82, explained any variance in residual negative affect. Step 2 explained 12% of the variance in residual negative affect; again, only Neuroticism was significant (β =.42, p <.001).

Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Negative Affect for Warning Video

Variable	В	SE B	β	ΔR^2
Step 1				.01
Warning	.93	.84	.10	
Step 2				.11*
Warning	1.02	.82	.11	
Neuroticism	2.97	.78	.42***	
Extraversion	1.34	.99	.14	
Openness	47	.81	05	
Agreeableness	.98	.98	.10	
Conscientiousness	1.51	.93	.17	
Step 3				.02
Warning	-19.19	18.11	-2.02	
Neuroticism	2.63	1.03	.37*	
Extraversion	1.95	1.60	.20	
Openness	58	1.09	06	
Agreeableness	.35	1.39	.03	
Conscientiousness	.72	1.19	.08	
Warning x Neuroticism	1.01	1.67	.23	
Warning x Extraversion	84	2.09	30	
Warning x Openness	02	1.69	01	
Warning x Agreeableness	1.25	2.06	.52	
Warning x Conscientiousness	2.06	1.96	1.68	

p* < .05. **p* < .001.

Another set of hierarchical regression analyses was conducted on the residual affect and anxiety scores obtained after participants viewed the second video giving the prognosis (i.e., the prognosis video). Framing condition was entered into Step 1; warning condition was not included in the model because it yielded no significant main effects or interaction effects in the previous analyses of framing. The five personality factors were entered in Step 2, followed by two-way interactions of personality and framing in Step 3.

Pearson correlations between the five personality factors and the residualized positive affect, negative affect, and anxiety scores from the prognosis video are presented in Table 15. Neuroticism, extraversion, and conscientiousness were significantly correlated with positive affect, but none of the personality factors were correlated with negative affect or anxiety. Framing condition was correlated only with negative affect. Health information style was not correlated with any of the dependent measures.

Table 15

Intercorrelations Among Personality	and Residualized	l Affect and Anxie	ty Scores for
Prognosis Video			

	Positive Affect	Negative Affect	Anxiety
Neuroticism	21*	.02	.08
Extraversion	.22*	.06	07
Openness	.03	12	01
Agreeableness	03	.04	.06
Conscientiousness	.28**	.05	09
KHOS-I	.12	.00	07
Framing Condition	.01	37**	23

*p < .05. **p < .01.

Table 16 presents results for the regression analysis on residual positive affect for the prognosis video. Framing condition in Step 1 did not predict positive affect, F(1,126)= 0.01, p = .91. The personality factors entered in Step 2 explained 13% of the variance in positive affect, F(5, 121) = 3.63, p = .004. Agreeableness ($\beta = -.20$, p = 04) and Conscientiousness ($\beta = .28$, p = .006) were statistically significant. Finally, the interactions of personality by framing entered in Step 3 explained no additional variance in positive affect.

Table 17 presents results for the regression analysis on residual negative affect for the prognosis video. Framing condition explained 13% of the variance in negative affect in Step 1, F(1, 126) = 19.41, p < .001, but neither the addition of personality in Step 2, F(5, 121) = 0.74, p = .60, nor the personality by framing interactions in Step 3 explained any additional variance in negative affect, F(5, 116) = 0.76, p = .58.

Finally, the hierarchical regression analysis on anxiety for the prognosis video (Table 18) produced results similar to those for negative affect. Framing condition in Step 1 explained 5% of the variance in anxiety, F(1, 126) = 6.93, p = .01. Neither the addition of personality in Step 2, F(5, 121) = 0.67, p = .64, nor the personality by framing interactions in Step 3 explained any additional variance in anxiety, F(5, 116) = 0.65, p = .66.

All three of the regression analyses (positive affect, negative affect, and anxiety) were repeated including health information style with the five personality factors in Step 2 as well as the health information style by framing interaction in Step 3. The addition of health information style added nothing to the prediction of any of the dependent measures (results not shown).

Variable	В	SE B	β	ΔR^2
Step 1				.00
Framing	.05	.46	.01	
Step 2				.13**
Framing	.07	.45	.01	
Neuroticism	37	.42	10	
Extraversion	.60	.53	.12	
Openness	.16	.44	.03	
Agreeableness	-1.11	.53	20*	
Conscientiousness	1.39	.50	.28**	
Step 3				.03
Framing	5.82	.45	.01	
Neuroticism	-1.04	.42	10	
Extraversion	.19	.53	.12	
Openness	.83	.64	.17	
Agreeableness	-1.27	.81	23	
Conscientiousness	1.56	.70	.32*	
Framing x Neuroticism	.93	.89	.46	
Framing x Extraversion	.24	1.12	.15	
Framing x Openness	-1.28	.90	85	
Framing x Agreeableness	.21	1.08	.16	
Framing x Conscientiousness	68	1.02	-1.02	

Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Predicting Positive Affect after Prognosis Video

p* < .05. *p* < .01.

Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Negative Affect for Prognosis

Video

Variable	В	SE B	β	ΔR^2
Step 1	-2.90	.66	37***	.13***
Framing				
Step 2				.03
Framing	-2.95	.68	37***	
Neuroticism	1.01	.64	.17	
Extraversion	1.02	.81	.13	
Openness	66	.66	09	
Agreeableness	.12	.81	.01	
Conscientiousness	.46	.76	.06	
Step 3				.03
Framing	-22.04	15.02	-2.78	
Neuroticism	.32	1.08	.05	
Extraversion	18	1.15	02	
Openness	62	.97	08	
Agreeableness	68	1.23	08	
Conscientiousness	.51	1.07	.07	
Framing x Neuroticism	1.06	1.36	.34	
Framing x Extraversion	2.78	1.70	1.18	
Framing x Openness	.33	1.37	.14	
Framing x Agreeableness	1.27	1.64	.62	
Framing x Conscientiousness	.18	1.55	.18	

***p* =.01. *** *p* < .001.

Variable	В	SE B	β	ΔR^2
Step 1				.05*
Framing	-1.42	.54	23**	
Step 2				.03
Framing	-1.47	.55	24***	
Neuroticism	.43	.52	.09	
Extraversion	14	.66	02	
Openness	.10	.54	.02	
Agreeableness	.77	.66	.11	
Conscientiousness	56	.62	09	
Step 3				.03
Framing	-1.18	12.33	19	
Neuroticism	.16	.89	.03	
Extraversion	-1.13	.94	18	
Openness	.51	.80	.08	
Agreeableness	.47	1.01	.07	
Conscientiousness	10	.88	02	
Framing x Neuroticism	.28	1.12	.11	
Framing x Extraversion	2.22	1.40	1.21	
Framing x Openness	70	1.12	40	
Framing x Agreeableness	.36	1.34	.23	
Framing x Conscientiousness	96	1.27	-1.19	

Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Anxiety for Prognosis Video

* p < .05. **p = .01. *** p < .001.

Two final hierarchical regression analyses were conducted on the hopefulness ratings obtained after participants viewed the second video giving the prognosis (i.e., the prognosis video). As in the previous regression analyses, framing condition was entered in Step 1, the five personality factors were entered in Step 2, and the personality by framing interactions were entered in Step 3. In the first analysis residualized LOT-R scores served as the dependent variable. The dependent variable in the second analysis was the mean of the ten 0-100 hopefulness ratings.

Pearson correlations between the five personality factors and the residualized LOT-R scores and average hope ratings are presented in Table 19. Neuroticism, extraversion, and agreeableness were significantly correlated with average hope, but none of the personality factors were correlated with LOT-R scores. Framing condition was correlated only with average hope. Health information style was not correlated with any of the dependent measures.

Table 19

	LOT-R	Average hope
Neuroticism	.15	42***
Extraversion	04	.29**
Openness	01	.09
Agreeableness	03	.18*
Conscientiousness	12	.16
KHOS-I	.11	.03
Framing condition	11	.26**

Intercorrelations Between Personality, Residualized LOT-R and Hope Ratings for Prognosis Video

p*<.05. *p*<.01. ****p*<.001.

For the regression on residual LOT-R scores, none of the three steps were statistically significant (results not shown). Table 20 presents results for the regression analysis on average hopefulness ratings (across 10 domains) following the prognosis video. Framing condition in Step 1 explained 7% of the variance in hopefulness, *F* (1, 126) = 9.41, *p* = .003. The personality factors entered in Step 2 explained an additional 23% of the variance in hope, *F* (5, 121) = 7.95, *p* < .001. Only Neuroticism (β = -.44, *p* < .001) made a unique contribution. Finally, the personality by framing interactions entered in Step 3 explained no additional variance in hope *F* (5, 116) = 0.93, *p* < .46.

When these two regression analyses (for LOT-R and average hope) were repeated including health information style with the five personality factors in Step 2 as well as the health information style by framing interaction in Step 3, the results of these analyses were unchanged. The addition of health information style added nothing to the prediction of either of the dependent measures (results not shown).

Variable	В	SE B	β	ΔR^2
Step 1				.07**
Framing	8.87	2.89	.26**	
Step 2				.23***
Framing	10.66	2.61	.32***	
Neuroticism	-11.21	2.48	44***	
Extraversion	2.51	3.11	.07	
Openness	2.18	2.55	.07	
Agreeableness	2.76	3.11	.08	
Conscientiousness	-2.74	2.92	09	
Step 3				.03
Framing	44.27	57.85	1.32	
Neuroticism	-12.29	4.17	49**	
Extraversion	5.20	4.42	.15	
Openness	3.92	3.75	.12	
Agreeableness	6.03	4.72	.17	
Conscientiousness	-5.16	4.11	16	
Framing x Neuroticism	1.63	5.24	.12	
Framing x Extraversion	-8.46	6.56	85	
Framing x Openness	-3.80	5.26	39	
Framing x Agreeableness	-5.42	6.31	63	
Framing x Conscientiousness	3.16	5.9	.73	

Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Mean Hope for Prognosis Video

Note. . Dependent variable is mean of ten 0-100 ratings of hopefulness.

p* < .01. *p*<.001.

CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION

This dissertation investigated the effects of forecasting bad news and framing prognosis when conveying a life-limiting diagnosis of colon cancer. An experimental videotape paradigm was used to maximize the capacity for discerning differences in individuals' perceptions and affective responses following specific communication behaviors. I hypothesized that warning of impending bad news would reduce subsequent psychological distress but have no effect on recall of consultation content. Similarly, framing prognosis in terms of positive outcomes such as treatment success and survival was expected to produce less distress and greater hope than framing prognosis in terms of negative outcomes such as cancer reoccurrence and death. I also hypothesized that negative framing would negatively bias subjective perceptions of the prognosis but not affect the recall of prognostic statistics.

Effect of Warning of Impending Bad News

Results of this study did not support the hypothesis that warning an individual about upcoming bad news reduced psychological distress. Participants in both warning and no-warning conditions reported similar negative affect and anxiety after watching a video in which a doctor gave them a diagnosis of colon cancer. Thus, receiving a warning immediately prior to the diagnosis had no effect.

Several factors may help explain why warning did not affect psychological distress in this study. The most obvious explanation is that the type of warning recommended in current guidelines (and used in the current study) is ineffective. Although obvious, this explanation is not simple and is composed of several potential contributing factors. For instance, it is possible that the brevity of the warning statement

prevents individuals from detecting the warning. Written in the form recommended by the SPIKES protocol (Baile et al., 2000), the warning used in this study was brief (i.e., "T m afraid I have bad news"). As a manipulation check, participants were asked whether the doctor had said anything before telling them they had cancer to let them know that bad news was coming. A considerable proportion (29%) of participants did not correctly identify the condition to which they had been randomized. Specifically, 20 participants in the no-warning condition erroneously thought they received a warning, and 17 participants in the warning condition did not realize they had received a warning. Nonetheless, analyses repeated with the subset of participants who *did* correctly identify their condition did not find a significant effect of warning. Furthermore, within each condition, there was no difference in negative affect or anxiety between participants who identified the manipulation and those who did not. This suggests that the nonsignificant effect of warning on psychological distress cannot be attributed to failure to detect the warning.

Though the problem with the warning does not appear to be one of detection, it is still possible that the brevity of the warning limited its effectiveness. A warning so brief may simply not be powerful enough to have an effect on affect or anxiety. This is especially true when one considers that the warning statement was presented immediately before the news itself, with only a momentary pause between the warning and the physician's diagnostic statement. A more potent (i.e., lengthy, explicit) warning might be more effective.

Above and beyond the characteristics of the warning itself, it is possible that other elements of the physician's presentation in the videos contributed to the nonsignificant

findings. For instance, any effect of the warning statement may have been diluted by the identical style and content of the physician's comments in both conditions. In an effort to isolate the effect of the warning phrase, I used the same video for both conditions, with the warning phrase, "I'm afraid I have bad news," simply edited out of the no-warning video. This ensured that the physician used the same tone of voice and words in the no-warning video as he did in the warning video. Although this strategy increased experimental control, in actual clinical settings warning is likely not only about the words being used. Rather, patients may discern (and perhaps even seek out) other cues to detect that bad news is coming, such as a physician's tone of voice, pacing of the conversation, or other aspects of the physician's behavior. Thus, by using the same tone in both videos—a tone that sought to convey a professional sense of caring concern—the effect of warning may have been mitigated.

Similarly, both the warning and no-warning videos began with the doctor reviewing the patient's symptoms and steps taken thus far to identify the cause of those symptoms. Although intended to ensure that doctor and patient had a shared understanding of what had happened thus far, inspection of the qualitative response to the question about whether the physician let them know that bad news was coming suggests that this preface may have been interpreted in other ways. Indeed, several of the participants in the no-warning condition who erroneously thought they had received warning noted that the doctor's detailed review of procedures and symptoms let them know that "the news was not good." In other words, these participants felt that if the news had not been bad, the physician would have come out immediately and said, "I have good news," or "Your test results came back negative." Anecdotally, a few even

mentioned that most physicians have nurses call on the telephone to report when test results are good, so that even being called into the office to receive test results could be interpreted as a warning.

Thus, if many participants in this study perceived the physician's lengthy review of procedures to be a sign that bad news was coming, then this study in essence compared two conditions with almost identical warnings (except for the brief one-sentence warning that was actually being tested). This could explain why no effect of warning was found. These results imply that physicians may want to be aware of the unintentional effect such an opening could have on patients, even in the absence of an explicit warning statement. Future research could address this possibility directly using a videotape paradigm with two conditions: one in which the physician begins with a review of procedures similar to the script in this study, compared with one in which the physician begins with the diagnosis, omitting both the review and the explicit warning statement. Alternatively, to test directly the effect of the warning statement evaluated in this study, it may be advisable to remove the summary of procedures from both conditions, an approach that has not been taken in prior videotape research (Fogarty et al., 1999).

These explanations point to the possibility that warning may indeed have an effect on psychological distress, although not in the form presented in this study. This conclusion seems probable, given previous research showing an effect of warning in other contexts (Dutt-Gupta et al., 2007). For instance, it is reasonable to think that an earlier warning of the *possibility* of bad news, such as telling a patient that the polyp being biopsied *could* be cancerous, may be more likely to affect psychological distress than warning of confirmed bad news immediately before delivering that news

(Friedrichsen & Strang, 2003). This kind of warning of possibility, which was proposed in at least one set of guidelines (Girgis, Sanson-Fisher & Schofield, 1999), would be more consistent with the Bad News Response Model that has been described in previous research (Sweeny & Shepperd, 2007), as it would allow a patient to "brace for the worst." According to this model, individuals will experience less negative affect at the receipt of bad news if they are *expecting* that news. In one study testing this theory, participant expectations of receiving positive test results (i.e., bad news) were manipulated by informing them that people like themselves were either at high risk or low risk for the medical condition being tested. Unlike the current study, a period of approximately 3 minutes elapsed between the receipt of this warning and the provision of bad news, presumably enabling participants in the high-risk condition to consider the warning and mentally prepare themselves for bad news. Results showed that participants who expected the bad news had lower negative affect after receiving the test results than participants who did not expect the bad news (Shepperd & McNulty, 2002). Such mental preparation was not possible with the warning examined in this study due to its immediate proximity to the bad news provision itself, which may help to explain why the warning had no effect. Future research could explore whether a warning consistent with the Bad News Response Model would reduce negative affect within the context of receiving a cancer diagnosis.

A final consideration in explaining the nonsignificant effect of warning on psychological distress is that the term "warning" may be a misnomer when describing the communication strategy recommended in current guidelines and examined in this study. In their SPIKES protocol, which provides recommendations about how to deliver bad

news, Baile and colleagues (2000) claimed that warning "may lessen the shock that can follow the disclosure of bad news and may facilitate information processing" (p. 306). This seems unlikely for the reasons just described, most notably that the warning they recommend is too brief and too close in time to the actual provision of bad news for participants to "prepare for the worst." Nevertheless, expressing that one is "afraid" to say that he has bad news or is "sorry to tell you that..." as the SPIKES protocol specifically recommends may contribute to reduced psychological distress when conveyed with a warm tone of voice and paired with other similar sentiments both before and after the provision of bad news. This potential effect seems more likely to be due to an effect of compassion rather than due to the patient actually feeling warned—that is, notified, alerted, or cautioned prior to the receipt of bad news. Indeed, the warning "I'm afraid I have bad news" is strikingly similar to some of the empathic statements recommended in the SPIKES protocol (e.g., "I'm sorry to have to tell you this," or "I was also hoping for a better result"). Such statements, when offered with a tone of warmth and caring concern, may help the patient to feel supported and reassured (Baile et al., 2000). Hence offering such a brief warning statement may be just one element in a compassionate delivery of bad news, which as a broader construct has been shown to reduce patient anxiety (Fogarty et al., 1999).

Warning also failed to have an effect on recall of consultation content, consistent with predictions. Researchers have suggested that improved recall should be mediated by reduced anxiety (Baile et al., 2000; Fogarty et al., 1999). Since I did not find a reduction in anxiety in the warning condition, this may explain why there was no difference in recall of video content. Fogarty and colleagues (1999) did not find improvements in

recall, despite achieving a significant reduction in anxiety in their videotape study of the effect of empathy when delivering bad news. Indeed, reduced anxiety was actually associated with *worse* recall in that study, perhaps because participants felt more calm and trusting of the empathic physician and therefore were less scrutinizing of the information he provided. This is unlikely the case in the current study because physician empathy was held constant and patient anxiety did not vary across the two conditions; however, it should also be noted that the memory load for the consultation in this study was fairly low compared with an actual doctor's visit. The warning video was only 2 minutes long, and questions that assessed recall were fairly simple and straightforward (e.g., "Did the doctor tell you that have colon cancer?" Yes/No; "Did the doctor recommend that you have chemotherapy?" Yes/No). Consequently, a ceiling effect existed for recall. Seventy-five percent of the sample recalled all 6 items correctly, an additional 23% recalled 5 of 6 items correctly, and the remaining 2% recalled 4 of 6 items correctly. Given that research has shown longer consultations to be associated with worse information recall (Jansen et al., 2008), future research should examine this hypothesis following a consultation that is more representative of the length and memory load of an actual doctor's visit to ensure that warning does, indeed, have no effect on patients' ability to recall the information provided.

Effect of Framing Prognostic Information

After receiving a cancer diagnosis, patients typically are told about what to expect in the future. Information about their prognosis is frequently included in this discussion, and in many cases represents a second dose of bad news. In a second video the effect of framing this prognostic information (i.e., expressing prognosis in terms of positive

outcome vs. negative outcomes) was examined. Several hypotheses regarding the effects of framing were tested. The first examined the effect of framing on accuracy for the statistical percentages given by the physician when explaining prognosis. As hypothesized, there was no difference between participants who heard a positively framed prognosis and those who heard a negatively framed prognosis. In both conditions, approximately 40% of participants recalled both statistics accurately, 40% recalled one statistic accurately, and approximately 20% recalled neither statistic accurately. Although recall has not been addressed in research on prognosis framing in the past, these findings are generally consistent with two studies of the effect of message framing on breast selfexamination. Both studies found equivalent recall between framing conditions after reading an information pamphlet (Myerowitz & Chaiken, 1987) and watching an informational video (Brenes, 1998).

Although I predicted no differences in recall between framing conditions, an interesting trend that contradicts my original hypothesis should be noted. The physician in the video explained the patient's prognosis with two statistics. He first presented the patient's chances of remaining cancer free after treatment (80%; positive frame) or chances of the cancer returning (20%; negative frame). He preceded this statement with "fortunately" in the positively framed video, and "unfortunately" in the negatively framed video. Then, in a second statement, he presented the percentage of patients "who are your age and have this disease" who are still alive in 5 years (65%; positive frame), or who die within 5 years (35%; negative frame). Among those who heard the negatively framed prognosis, participants were equally likely to recall the first and second statistics correctly (64.1% vs. 60.9%). In contrast, among participants who heard the positively
framed prognosis, the proportion of accurate recall dropped significantly, from 68.8% for the first statistic to only 48.8% for the second statistic (i.e., the percentage of people who are still alive in 5 years).

Inspection of individually recalled percentages suggests that people in the positive condition were somewhat more likely to pair the first percentage (80%) with the second phrase (percentage of people who are still alive in 5 years). Indeed, only 8% of participants in the negative condition made this error, while 20% in the positive condition did. Notably, participants who made this error unintentionally overestimated their chances of surviving 5 years; that is, they interpreted their prognosis to be more optimistic than it actually was. Consistent with this pattern (though not statistically significant), participants in the positive condition were somewhat more likely to be overly optimistic when recalling the second prognostic statistic: 33% of individuals in the positive condition overestimated the 5-year survival rate, but only 17% in the negative condition underestimated the 5-year mortality rate.

A tendency for patients to overestimate their prognosis in the positive direction has been reported in previous studies (Mackillop et al., 1988) and is concerning because it may lead patients to pursue more aggressive treatment than they would if their understanding of prognosis was more accurate (Weeks et al., 1998). Although the trends in recall observed in this study are only preliminary, the notion that memory for the second statistic might decline after hearing the first positively framed statistic is consistent with research showing that positive mood tends to reduce attention to detail, deferring to more heuristic-type processing (Clore, Schwarz, & Conway, 1994). Thus after hearing the first percentage along with the physician's construal of the news as good

(given his use of the term "fortunately"), participants may have been less scrutinizing of the prognostic information, possibly contributing to the observed decline in recall. As one participant who was unable to recall the second statistic correctly wrote, "80% words were nice to hear." Though largely conjecture at this stage, this explanation could be strengthened by further research replicating the observed trends at a statistically significant level. To test this proposition, more could be done to cast the positive frame as "good news" and the negative frame as "bad news." For instance, the physician could use a more enthusiastic or optimistic tone of voice in the positive frame and use a more pessimistic tone in the negative frame. In addition, inserting comments such as "I have great news" or "I have very bad news" could further enhance the manipulation and help to determine whether positive mood is associated with worse prognosis recall.

Although framing was not expected to affect objective recall of the statistical percentages, it was hypothesized to influence subjective interpretations of that prognostic information. Results of the current study provide support for this hypothesis. Despite the fact that the ultimate outcomes presented in the two conditions were identical in meaning, individuals who heard the negatively framed prognosis rated the news as significantly worse than those who heard the same news framed in a positive way. The difference in the 0 to 100 ratings of this news was substantial. Further, if 50, the midpoint of the scale, represents neutral (i.e., the news is viewed as neither good nor bad), then individuals who heard the negative frame rated the news as bad, whereas those who heard the positive frame rated the news as good. This finding is consistent with previous research showing that positive framing increases patients' willingness to accept medical treatment by manipulating perceptions of risk of developing side effects (e.g., Gurm & Litaker, 2000;

O'Connor, 1989). By prefacing the prognosis with the term "fortunately" and emphasizing positive outcomes such as surviving and remaining cancer free, the physician in the positive video supported an optimistic interpretation of the news. On the other hand, by introducing the prognosis with "unfortunately" and emphasizing negative outcomes, such as the chances of the cancer returning and patients dying, the physician manipulated perceptions of the news to be more pessimistic, even though the negative outcomes were no more likely to occur in the negative condition than in the positive condition. These results suggest that health care professionals would be advised to consider the potential effect subtle changes in their language might have on patient perceptions of what to expect in the future.

Given the substantial difference in subjective ratings of the prognostic information, it is perhaps not surprising that framing also had a significant effect on psychological distress. As hypothesized, after hearing the negatively framed prognosis, individuals reported significantly greater negative affect and significantly higher anxiety compared with individuals who heard the positively framed prognosis. This difference was likely due to the focus on treatment failure and the greater salience of death in the negative frame. However, contrary to hypothesis, individuals in the two groups did not differ in positive affect. Indeed, it appears that positive affect was somewhat elevated in both groups prior to watching the prognosis video and remained unchanged in both groups after hearing the prognostic information. This pattern of results is consistent with prior theory and research and reflects a long-term debate regarding the dimensional structure of affect.

Although one might assume positive affect is synonymous with pleasantness (i.e., content, happy, pleased), and negative affect with unpleasantness (i.e., blue, sad), these common interpretations are not compatible with the constructs supposedly measured by the PANAS (Feldman, 1995). Instead, the PANAS was designed to assess two specific and theoretically orthogonal domains: Negative Affect, which is described as one's level of "subjective distress and unpleasurable engagement" (Watson et al., 1988, p.1063), and Positive Affect, which "reflects the extent to which one feels enthusiastic, active, and alert" (p.1063). Feldman Barrett and Russell (1998) have argued that these specialized definitions reflect the fact that the PANAS subscales each represent a combination of two bipolar constructs: pleasantness (positive vs. negative) and arousal (high vs. low). As such, the negative subscale contains only items that are high in both unpleasant affect and arousal, and therefore may be better labeled *unpleasant activation*. Similarly, the positive subscale contains only items high in pleasantness and arousal, and may therefore be referred to as *unpleasant activation*. Using empirical methods, Feldman Barrett and Russell demonstrated that combining pleasantness and arousal in one subscale and unpleasantness and arousal in a second subscale produces two scales that are almost completely uncorrelated, even though each of the individual constructs (i.e., pleasantness and activation) are bipolar and hence negatively correlated.

If the PANAS subscales do indeed measure orthogonal constructs, then one should not necessarily expect a reduction in positive affect to accompany an increase in negative affect. Consistent with this, previous research has shown that stressful events and unpleasant experiences are generally associated with high negative affect but not associated with positive affect (e.g., Warr, Barter, & Brownbridge, 1983). In the current

study, receiving prognostic information within the context of cancer, at least when the chance of survival is less than 100%, is likely interpreted as an unpleasant event, regardless of how that news is framed. Hence, presenting prognosis using a positive frame may reduce the negativity of the news compared to the negative frame, but does not change the fact that the news is fundamentally bad.

From a behavioral perspective, hearing prognosis in either frame is presumably threatening and therefore activates the Behavioral Inhibition System (BIS; Gray, 1990), which regulates avoidance behavior and is associated with negative affect (Carver & White, 1994). Describing prognosis in terms of the chances of survival (i.e., positive framing) likely enhances the extent to which individuals feel that they will be able to avoid dying, and therefore is associated with less increase in negative affect compared to hearing the chances of death (i.e., negative framing). In contrast, positive framing does not likely activate the reciprocal Behavioral Approach System (BAS; Gray, 1990), which is sensitive to reward signals, regulates approach (i.e., goal-oriented) behavior and is associated with positive affect. Consequently, the differential effect of framing is observed in the change in negative affect, but not in positive affect.

In a final hypothesis the effect of framing on feelings of hopefulness was examined. Although this effect has not been previously investigated, one of the main reasons physicians report employing positive outcome framing is to preserve patient hope in the face of bad news (Lamont & Christakis, 2001; Rodriguez et al., 2008). The hypothesis that positive framing would be associated with greater hopefulness than negative framing was assessed in two separate analyses, producing mixed results. When hopefulness was measured using a modified version of the LOT-R (Scheier et al., 1994),

there was no difference between the two framing conditions. When participants rated their hopefulness in 10 domains with a 0 to 100 scale, individuals who heard the positive prognosis reported significantly greater hope, both overall and with respect to specific aspects of their future.

It appears that the two scales measuring different constructs. The LOT-R was originally designed to measure optimism, a personality disposition that is not thought to be modifiable over time. Due to the absence of any preexisting state measures of hopefulness, this scale was chosen based on the close relationship between the constructs of optimism and hope, as well as the previous use of the LOT-R to track changes in the construct in psychological intervention studies with cancer patients (Antoni et al., 2001). Given its intended use as a trait measure, the LOT-R was composed of general items written in broad terms (e.g., "In uncertain times, I usually expect the best"). In contrast, the hopefulness ratings developed for this study were more specific and related directly to the cancer scenario (e.g., "Based on the news the doctor gave you, how hopeful are you that you will live 10 years?").

Furthermore, there was a subtle discrepancy in the two scales' instructions, which was necessary to make the directions compatible with wording of the items in each scale. Although both measures asked participants to think about what they had just been told, the hope ratings specifically inquired about feelings of hope "based on the news the doctor gave you," whereas the LOT-R instructions stated: "You were diagnosed with colon cancer, have had surgery, and the doctor has just told you about treatment and what you can expect in the future. Putting yourself in that mindset, please indicate how much you agree with each of the statements below." In short, the LOT-R likely captured trait

levels of optimism/hopefulness, which could be expected to remain stable in the face of bad news. In contrast, the items written specifically for this study likely reflected hopefulness in the moment, and this state construct could be expected to change over time, as observed in this study.

Taken together, these results suggest that framing the prognosis may not have an impact on patients' general outlook on life but may influence their hopefulness regarding certain aspects of their future. Yet even among the subjective ratings of hopefulness, framing appeared to sway hopefulness in some domains but not others. For instance, participants who received the negative prognosis were less hopeful than those who heard the positive prognosis about their chances of living 5 years, 10 years, and living longer than the doctor expected. They were also less hopeful that the cancer would never return. On the other hand, framing did not appear to affect hope of living 1 year, receiving needed treatment or good pain and symptom control, regaining independence, or being generally well cared for. These results are consistent with the idea that the framing does not have such a dramatic or all-encompassing effect as to cause individuals to be universally pessimistic (or optimistic) about their future. The negative framing does, however, appear to reduce feelings of hopefulness relative to the positive frame, particularly in domains specifically mentioned in the physician's discussion of prognosis. Whether the effect of a physician's communication approach on hope tends to be transient or enduring is a question that could be explored in future longitudinal studies of patient functioning.

Notably, if the 0 to 100 hopefulness ratings were interpreted as statistical percentages, then individuals in both framing groups tended to be more hopeful than

would be expected if they based their ratings solely on the prognostic information presented by the doctor. For example, the 5-year survival rate according to the physician was 65%, yet participants in the positive condition rated their hopefulness for surviving 5 years at approximately 86, and participants in the negative condition rated their hopefulness at approximately 70. Furthermore, despite tremendous variability in these ratings, participants in both conditions could generally be described as quite hopeful, as the average ratings were above 50 in every domain assessed. Though it is conjectural to interpret hopefulness ratings as statistical percentages, this finding is consistent with previous research showing that individuals generally display an optimistic bias when envisioning the personally relevant future (Taylor & Brown, 1988; Weinstein, 1989). For instance, one study found that individuals tend to rate themselves as less susceptible to developing cancer compared with their peers (Clarke, Lovegrove, Williams & Machperson, 2000).

Individual Differences in Personality and Health Information Style

That feelings of hope were not determined entirely by physician comments highlights the fact that other individual differences may contribute to a patient's response to bad news. Many physicians note that they consider a patient's personality in their decision about how to deliver bad news (Ptacek et al., 2001), and a patient's personality and previous experiences may influence the subjective interpretation of and response to bad news. Yet it remains unclear what personality factors may be relevant in predicting a patient's response. In a preliminary effort to clarify this, possible relationships were explored among the Big Five personality factors, health information style, and psychological distress and hopefulness.

Results from these exploratory analyses produced several significant findings. In the case of testing the effect of warning, the only significant association was between Neuroticism and negative affect. Specifically, people who were more neurotic reported more negative affect after receiving a diagnosis of colon cancer. This finding is consistent with previous research demonstrating a close relationship between these two measures. For instance, Rusting and Larsen (1997) found that Neuroticism predicted negative affect following an unpleasant imagery task similar to the current study, in which participants imagined a series of bad scenarios including a friend dying of cancer. By definition neuroticism "represents the proneness of the individual to experience unpleasant and disturbing emotions" (McCrae & Costa, 2003, p.46), and some researchers have argued that neuroticism should be termed *negative emotionality* based its robust relationship with negative affect (Tellegen, 1985). From a clinical perspective, this finding affirms many health care professionals' inclination to consider a patient's personality when delivering bad news. Knowing that a patient's underlying personality tends to be highly neurotic, a clinician may prepare for the possibility of a more intense negative emotional reaction and thus provide additional support, assist with reframing, or offer psychological services as necessary to help the patient cope. In contrast to the findings for Neuroticism, neither the other four personality factors nor health information style predicted negative affect. Further, there were no significant relationships between any of these variables and positive affect or anxiety.

A slightly different pattern of results emerged when individuals heard news about prognosis. Though Neuroticism was correlated with both negative affect and anxiety in this scenario, it did not uniquely add to the prediction of either outcome after taking into

account the effect of framing. In this scenario, however, positive affect, which was not affected by framing, was predicted by both Agreeableness and Conscientiousness. Thus it appears individuals who were more good-natured, meticulous, and precise felt more enthusiastic following the second consultation, possibly reflecting a preference among these individuals for the type of detailed information about prognosis they had just received.

Although these associations are intriguing, their magnitudes were relatively small, and the findings are preliminary and in need of replication. Furthermore, the NEO yielded relatively few significant associations, and the health information style questionnaire failed to make any significant predictions. The null results associated with the latter questionnaire may be attributed to poor psychometric properties, as the factor structure of the Krantz Health Opinion Survey has been criticized in the past (Robinson-Whelen & Storandt, 1992). Even with this consideration, a large amount of variance in each of the outcome variables is left unexplained. Consequently, a follow-up study with larger samples and additional measures of patient attitudes, preferences, and personalities could provide greater insight into the relationship between individual differences and physician communication styles in predicting responses to bad news. In addition to developing a more psychometrically sound measure of health information style, it may be useful for future research to assess variables such as individual patient communication style, specific preferences for bad news communication (e.g., level of detail, importance of emotional support; Lobb et al., 2001), as well fear of death and dying (e.g., Lester & Abdel-Khalek, 2003). Anecdotally, it may also be prudent for future studies to collect ratings of physician attributes such as empathy, caring, dominance, competence, and

trustworthiness (e.g., Schmid Mast, Hall & Roter, 2008). Despite the fact that the physician presentation style was held constant across the four conditions, numerous participants in this study commented on these traits, conveying a wide variety of intensely held opinions about the physician that could be predictive of affective responses following the consultation.

Limitations

One major limitation of this study is its generalizability. The videotape paradigm permitted a level of experimental control that has been absent in the majority of previous research in this area, but there are obvious differences between this approach and studying communication as it naturally unfolds. Participants in this study were not actually receiving a diagnosis of cancer, and there could be differences in responses to this imaginary scenario and receiving such bad news in real life. Despite this limitation, every effort was taken to make the scenario feel as realistic as possible, including filming the video in an actual physician's office with a real doctor, having the physician speak directly into the camera as if he were talking to the participant, and setting up the testing rooms to look like a doctor's waiting room and examination room. Furthermore, participants generally reported that they felt the study scenario was realistic, that they could imagine themselves in the scenario, and that they believed that they would respond quite similarly if the situation presented in the study were actually happening to them. The fact that there were changes in negative affect and anxiety and differences in hope ratings as a function of the framing manipulation further suggests that participants took the experiment seriously and found it was realistic.

In addition, the videotape paradigm precluded any conversation between the participant and the doctor, which limited the realism of the experience and also prevented participants from asking questions and doctors from tailoring their delivery to each person. These restrictions are notable because patients better remember consultation information when they ask questions and actively engage in discussion with the physician (Brown et al., 2001). Moreover, evidence suggests that tailoring the amount of information provided according to the level of information a patient desires is associated with lower anxiety and better problem-focused coping during a subsequent medical procedure (Kiesler & Auerbach, 2006; Ludwick-Rosenthal & Neufeld, 1993). Such tailoring, however, could not be incorporated into the physician's presentation in the current study.

Related to this limitation, although every effort was made to balance experimental control with realism, it was impossible to include some of the other elements recommended in the SPIKES protocol (Baile et al., 2000). For example, assessing how much the patient wants to know and checking for patient understanding throughout the conversation are likely to be important elements of delivering bad new that could not be incorporated into this study's videotape methodology. Future research could confirm whether these strategies increase comprehension and decrease psychological distress, as they are purported to do.

These limitations also highlight an inherent challenge in conducting research on communicating bad news: the reductive methodology necessary for determining causality with respect to specific communication strategies may oversimplify what takes place in an actual healthcare conversation between a doctor and patient. For instance, although a

simple six-word warning phrase may not affect psychological distress on its own, when used with other communication strategies it may in fact lead to reduced anxiety. This challenge will be best addressed by continuing to conduct research using a range of methodologies—experimental and correlational, lab-based and naturalistic so that the weaknesses of one approach may be balanced by the strengths of another.

Another limitation to the generalizability of these results is the age range of the participants. Participants were required to be at least 50 years of age because the colon cancer scenario they were asked to imagine was expected to be most salient for this age group. Inclusion of adults of all ages in future research will permit the investigation of age as an independent variable in predicting response to bad news. For instance, one study reported that older cancer patients recalled less information following an initial oncology consultation (Jansen et al., 2008), but age differences in recall of prognostic statistics specifically have yet to be examined.

The current study also held prognosis constant across conditions. It would be interesting to vary prognosis in future experimental studies, because recent research indicates that worse prognosis is associated with poorer recall of prognostic information (Jansen et al., 2008), and information preferences appear to fluctuate at more advanced stages of cancer, compared with early stage cancer (Hagerty et al., 2005). These differences could influence both comprehension and distress following diagnostic and prognostic consultations.

General Discussion and Implications

The results from this study contribute to a growing body of literature exploring optimal approaches for communicating bad news in health care. Specifically, the findings

provide preliminary evidence that subtle communication strategies such as framing prognosis in a certain way contribute to meaningful differences in the response to bad news. Although bad news is by definition unpleasant for physicians to give and patients to hear, these discussions are common in Western healthcare due to the belief that patients have a right to know their own medical information. This ethical and legal principle necessitates physician disclosure and patient understanding of even the most upsetting information about both diagnosis and prognosis so that patients can make informed medical decisions according to their preferences and values (Rodriguez et al., 2008).

As important as honest and precise delivery of bad news is, however, understanding should not be prioritized entirely at the expense of psychological wellbeing. A person's level of emotional distress following the receipt of bad news should also be considered, and efforts should be made to reduce anxiety and distress to whatever extent possible without sacrificing the provision of truthful and accurate information. Avoiding depression and maintaining good psychological functioning are important treatment goals in and of themselves. Psychological outcomes such as anxiety and depression, however, are also important when considering the long-term physical health of patients. Depression and poor quality of life among patients with cancer have been shown to be associated with worse physical health outcomes (Coates et al., 1992) including greater 5-year risk of death (Watson, Haviland, Greer, Davidson & Bliss, 1999), although this finding is somewhat less clear in far advanced cancer (Cassileth, Lusk, Miller, Brown & Miller, 1985; Glare, 2005). Furthermore, depressed individuals have been shown to be more likely to report dissatisfaction with the doctor-patient

relationship, which is in itself critical to the effective treatment of the patient (Arora, 2003). In short, to balance autonomy and beneficence, two principles highly valued in American healthcare, physicians need more information about how sharing bad news affects patients and whether particular communication strategies can enhance patient understanding while minimizing distress.

Results from this study suggest that identifying such strategies is not a simple task. Indeed, these results indicate that current guidelines based on expert consensus may not achieve their intended effect. Although this does not imply that physicians should abandon warning altogether, these results do call for further investigation of this technique as well as related approaches such as warning of the *possibility* of impending bad news. If the warning strategy truly has no effect—neither beneficial nor harmful—then its use in communicating bad news is largely irrelevant. Physicians should at least be made aware, however, of the evidence behind the strategies they choose to employ, particularly if an alternative strategy exists that may be more effective in attaining the desired result. For instance, the Bad News Response Model (Sweeny & Sheppard, 2007) implies that reducing the shock and minimizing the distress associated with a cancer diagnosis may be best achieved by warning of the *possibility* of bad news some time in advance of the actual delivery that news, because it would allow a patient to mentally "brace for the worst."

The conclusions regarding framing prognostic information are similarly complex. On the one hand, framing prognosis in terms of positive outcomes appears to reduce the anxiety and negative affect individuals experience after hearing their prognosis. Additionally, positive framing appears to support hope, a goal of care that is repeatedly

identified as a priority by both patients and physicians (Baile et al., 2000; Barclay et al., 2007; Clayton et al., 2008). Although these results appear to support describing prognosis using a positive frame, one must keep in mind that the goal of a prognostic discussion is typically to balance accurate knowledge with optimal psychological well-being. Consequently, the trend toward reduced accuracy in recall after positive framing complicates this recommendation. Furthermore, it is important to question whether positive framing could lead to inflated optimism, thereby sacrificing understanding for happiness. Such concerns are typically disregarded in the health behavior literature, where message framing has traditionally been employed. In this field the chief objective is to change health behavior (e.g., increase mammography compliance or encourage smoking cessation) so the message frame that most effectively achieves this single goal can be unconditionally recommended. For instance, because women are much more likely to get a mammogram after hearing the risks of failing to detect cancer early (rather than the benefits doing so), presenting arguments for mammography compliance in lossframed terms is clearly preferable, regardless of the effect it may have on other outcomes. When conveying prognosis, however, the need to balance two different goals leads one to question whether the elevated hopefulness produced by positive framing represents the achievement of one goal (i.e., optimal well-being) at the expense of another (i.e., accurate comprehension).

Given these considerations, this study seems to support indirectly the guideline that physicians use mixed framing (i.e., explaining prognosis with both positive *and* negative frames; National Breast Cancer Centre and National Cancer Control Initiative of Australia, 2003). Research indicates this approach is used infrequently in practice

(Rodriguez et al., 2008), and further research is needed to examine the effect of mixed framing before it can be endorsed unconditionally. For instance, it remains an empirical question whether mixed framing will mitigate the framing bias observed in this study or whether the provision of opposing frames might actually reduce recall due to the increased memory load (Jansen et al., 2008).

The conclusions and implications described here represent preliminary steps in identifying evidence-based approaches for communicating bad news in health care. Given the knowledge that framing influences perceptions of prognosis and initial responses to bad news, future research could evaluate the effect of this strategy on other, more distal outcomes such as treatment choice and relationship with the physician. It would be good to know, for instance, whether the elevations in negative affect and anxiety observed in the current study harm the rapport between patient and physician or whether this distress would persist over time. Furthermore, would individuals tend to choose more aggressive treatment after hearing their prognosis framed positively? These clinical outcomes are important for the long-term care of the patient. Finally, there are many additional communication strategies beyond warning and framing that have yet to be explored empirically. Though communication is sometimes viewed as an art that cannot be studied empirically, this study contradicts that belief and reinforces the need for such empirical evaluation by showing that expert consensus and commonsense expectations about the consequences of communication are not always correct. Though individual differences in patient preferences and personalities preclude a one-size-fits-all approach, the more evidence available about the effects of various strategies, the better chance doctors will convey bad news in a way that is optimal for each patient.

REFERENCES

- Akechi, T., Okuyama, T., Akizuki, N., Azuma, H., Sagawa, R., Furukawa, T. A. et al.
 (2006). Course of psychological distress and its predictors in advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients. *Psycho-Oncology*, *15*, 463-473.
- American Cancer Society. (2008a). *What are the risk factors for colon cancer?* Retrieved July 16, 2008 from

http://www.cancer.org/docroot/CRI/content/CRI_2_4_2X_What_ are_the_risk _factors_for_colon_and_rectum_cancer.asp

American Cancer Society. (2008b). *How is colorectal cancer staged?* Retrieved June 30 2008 from http://www.cancer.org/docroot/CRI/content/CRI_2_4_3X_How_is_colon_and_

rectum_ cancer_staged.asp?sitearea=

- Antoni, M. H., Lehman, J. M., Kilbourn, K. M., Boyers, A. E., Culver, J. L., Alferi, S.
 M., et al. (2001). Cognitive-behavioral stress management intervention decreases the prevalence of depression and enhances benefit finding among women under treatment for early-stage breast cancer. *Health Psychology*, 20, 20-32.
- Arora, N. K. (2003). Interacting with cancer patients: The significance of physicians' communication behavior. *Social Science and Medicine*, 57, 791-806.
- Baile, W. F., Buckman, R., Lenzi, R., Glober, G., Beale, E. A., & Kudelka, A. P. (2000). SPIKES—A six-step protocol for delivering bad news: Application to the patient with cancer. *Oncologist*, *5*, 302-311.

- Baile, W. F., Lenzi, R., Parker, P. A., Buckman, R., & Cohen, L. (2002). Oncologists' attitudes toward and practices in giving bad news: An exploratory study. *Journal* of Clinical Oncology, 20, 2189-2196.
- Barclay, J. S., Blackhall, L. J., & Tulsky, J. A. (2007). Common strategies and cultural issues in the delivery of bad news. *Journal of Palliative Care, 10,* 958-997.
- Brenes, G. A., (1998). The effects of message frame, perceived risk, and response efficacy on mammography compliance (Doctoral dissertation, Washington University in St. Louis, 1998). *Dissertation Abstracts International, 59*, 5071.
- Bruera, E., Palmer, J. L., Pace, E., Zhang, K., Willey, J., Strasser, F., et al. (2007). A randomized, controlled trial of physician postures when breaking bad news to cancer patients. *Palliative Medicine*, 21, 501-505.
- Buckman, R. (1984). Breaking bad news: Why is it so difficult? *British Medical Journal*, 288, 1597-1599.
- Butow, P. N., Dunn, S. M., & Tattersall, M. H. (1995). Communication with cancer patients: Does it matter? *Journal of Palliative Care*, *11*, 34-38.
- Butow, P. N., Kazemi, J. N., Beeney, L. J., Griffin, A., Dunn, S. M., & Tattersall, M. H. N. (1996). When the diagnosis is cancer: Patient communication experiences and preferences. *Cancer*, 77, 2630-2637.
- Butow, P. N., MacLean, M., Dunn, S. M., Tattersall, M. H., & Boyer, M. J. (1997). The dynamics of change: Cancer patients' preferences for information, involvement and support. *Annals of Oncology*, 8, 857-863.
- Campbell, M. L. (1994). Breaking bad news to patients. *JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association*, 271, 1052.

- Carver, C. S., & White, T. L. (1994). Behavioral inhibition, behavioral activation, and affective responses to impending reward and punishment: The BIS/BAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 319-333.
- Cassileth, B. R., Lusk, E. J., Miller, D. S., Brown, L. L., & Miller, C. (1985).
 Psychological correlates of survival in advanced malignant disease? *New England Journal of Medicine*, *312*, 1551-1555.
- Christakis, N. A. (1999). *Death foretold: Prophecy and prognosis in medical care*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Clarke, V. A., Lovegrove, H., Williams, A., & Machperson, M. (2000). Unrealistic optimism and the health belief model. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 23, 367-376.
- Clayton, J. M., Hancock, K., Parker, S., Butow, P. N., Walker, S., Carrick, S. et al.(2008). Sustaining hope when communicating with terminally ill patients and their families: A systematic review. *Psycho-Oncology*, *17*, 641-659.
- Clore, G. L., Schwarz, N., & Conway, M. (1994). Cognitive causes and consequences of emotion. In R. S. Wyer & T. K. Srull (Eds.), *Handbook of social cognition* (2nd ed., pp. 323-417). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Coates, A., Gebski, V, Signorini, D., Murray, P., McNeil, D., Byrne, M. et al. (1992).
 Prognostic value of quality-of-life scores during chemotherapy for advanced
 breast cancer. Australian New Zealand Breast Cancer Trials Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology, 10*, 1833-1838.
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1992). *NEOPI/FFI manual supplement*. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.

- Davey, H. M., Butow, P. N., & Armstrong, B. K. (2003). Patient preferences for written prognostic information. *British Journal of Cancer*, 89, 1450-1456.
- Dunn, S. M., Butow, P. N., Tattersall, M. H., Jones, Q. J., Sheldon, J. S., Taylor, J. J., et al. (1993). General information tapes inhibit recall of the cancer consultation. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 11, 2279-2285.
- Dutt-Gupta, J., Bown, T., & Cyna, A. M. (2007). Effect of communication of pain during intravenous cannulation: a randomized controlled trial. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 99, 871-875.
- Emanuel, L. L., von Gunten, C. F., & Ferris, F. D. (Eds). (1999). The education for physicians on end-of-life care (EPEC) curriculum: The EPEC project. Chicago: The EPEC Project.
- Eggly, S., Penner, L., Albrecht, T. L, Cline, R. J. W., Foster, T., Naughton, M., et al.(2006). Discussing bad news in the outpatient oncology clinic: Rethinking current communication guidelines. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *24*, 716-719.
- Fallowfield, L. J. (1993). Giving sad and bad news. Lancet, 341, 476-478.
- Fallowfield, L., & Jenkins, V. (2004). Communicating sad, bad, and difficult news in medicine. *The Lancet*, 363, 312-319.
- Faulkner, A., Maguire, P., & Regnard, C. (1994). Breaking bad news: A flow diagram. *Palliative Medicine*, 8, 145-151.
- Feldman, L. (1995). Valence focus and arousal focus: Individual differences in the structure of affective experience. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69, 153-166.

- Feldman Barrett, L. & Russell, J. A. (1998). Independence and bipolarity in the structure of current affect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *74*, 967-984.
- Fogarty, L. A., Curbow, B. A., Wingard, J. R., McDonnell, K., & Somerfield, M. R. (1999). Can 40 seconds of compassion reduce patient anxiety? *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 17, 371-397.
- Friedrichsen, M., & Milberg, J. (2006). Concerns about losing control when breaking bad news to terminally ill patients with cancer: physicians' perspective. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 9, 673-682.
- Friedrichsen, M. J. & Strang P. M. (2003). Doctor's strategies when breaking bad news to terminally ill patients. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *6*, 565-574.
- Gattellari, M., Butow, P. N., Tattersall, M. H. N, Dunn, S. M., & MacLeod, C. A. (1999).
 Misunderstanding in cancer patients: Why shoot the messenger? *Annals of Oncology*, 10, 39-46.
- Gattellari, M., Voigt, K. J., Butow, P. N., & Tattersall, M. H. N. (2002). When treatment goal is not cure: Are cancer patients equipped to make informed decisions? *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 20, 503-513.
- Girgis, A., & Sanson-Fisher, R. W. (1995). Breaking bad news: Consensus guidelines for medical practitioners. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 13, 2449-2456.

Girgis, A., Sanson-Fisher, R. W., & Schofield, M. J. (1999). Is there consensus between breast cancer patients and providers on guidelines for breaking bad news? *Behavioral Medicine*, 25, 69-77. Retrieved June 30, 2008 from Health & Wellness Resource Center Database.

- Glare, P. (2005). Clinical predictors of survival in advanced cancer. *Journal of Supportive Oncology*, *3*, 331-339.
- Gordon, E. J., & Daughtery, C. K. (2003). Hitting you over the head: Disclosure of prognosis to advanced cancer patients. *Bioethics*, *17*, 142-168.
- Gray, J. A. (1990). Brain systems that mediate both emotion and cognition. *Cognition and Emotion*, *4*, 269–288.
- Gurm, H. S., & Litaker, D. G. (2000). Framing procedural risks to patients: Is 99% safe the same as a risk of 1 in 100? *Academic Medicine*, 75, 840-842.
- Hagerty, R. G., Butow, P. N., Ellis, P. M., Dimitry, S., & Tattersall, M. H. N. (2005).Communicating prognosis in cancer care: A systematic review of the literature.*Annals of Oncology, 16,* 1005-1053.
- Hagerty, R. G., Butow, P. N., Ellis, P. A., Lobb, E. A., Pendlebury, S., Leighl, N. et al. (2004). Cancer patient preferences for communication of prognosis in the metastatic setting. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 22, 1721-1730.
- Heyland, D. R., Dodek, P., Rocker, G., Groll, D., Gafni, A., Pichora, D., et al. (2006).
 What matters most in end-of-life care: perceptions of seriously ill patients and their family members. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 174*. Retrieved May 14, 2008, from PUBMED database.
- Jansen, J., Butow, P. N., van Weert, J. C., van Duleman, S., Devine, R. J., Heeren, T. J., et al. (2008). Does age really matter? Recall of Information presented to newly referred patients with cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 26, 5450-5457.
- Kaplowitz, S. A., Campo., S., & Chiu, W. T. (2002). Cancer patients' desires for communication of prognosis information. *Health Communication*, 14, 221-241.

- Katzman, R., Brown, T., Fuld, P., Peck, A., Schechter, R., & Schimmel, H. (1983).
 Validation of a short orientation-memory-concentration test of cognitive impairment. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 140, 734-739.
- Kercher, K. (1992). Assessing subjective well-being in the old-old. *Research on Aging*, *14*, 131-167.
- Kiesler, D. J. & Auerback, S. M. (2006). Optimal matches of patient preferences for information, decision-making and interpersonal behavior: Evidence, models and interventions. *Patient Education & Counseling*, 61, 319-341.
- Krantz, D. S., Baum, A., & Wideman, W. (1980). Assessment of preferences for selftreatment and information in health care. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *39*, 977-990.
- Lamont, E. B., & Chistakis, N. A. (2001). Prognostic disclosure to patients with cancer near the end of life. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *134*, 1096-1105.
- Lester, D. & Abdel-Khalek, A. (2003). The Collett-Lester Fear of Death Scale: A correction. *Death Studies*, 27, 81-85.
- Lobb, E. A., Butow, P. B., Kenny, D. T., & Tattersall, M. H. N. (1999). Communicating prognosis in early breast cancer: Do women understand the language used? *Medical Journal of Australia, 171,* 290-294. Retrieved July 1, 2008, from eMJA via PUBMED database.
- Lobb, E. A., Kenny, D. T., Butow, P. B, & Tattersall, M. H. N. (2001). Women's preferences for discussion of prognosis in early breast cancer. *Health Expectations*, 4, 48-57.

Ludwick-Rosenthal, R. & Neufeld, R. W. J. (1993). Preparation for undergoing an

invasive medical procedure: Interacting effects of information and coping style. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 61, 156-164.

- Mackillop, W. J., Stewart, W. E., Ginsburg, A. D., & Stewart, S. S. (1988). Cancer patients' perceptions of their disease and its treatment. *British Journal of Cancer*, 58, 355-358.
- Mackinnon, A., Jorm, A. F., Christensen, H., Korten, A. E., Jacomb, P. A., & Rodgers, B. (1999). A short form of the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule: Evaluation of factorial validity and invariance across demographic variables in a community sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 27, 405-416.
- Marteau, T. M., & Bekker, H. (1992). The development of a six-item short-form of the state scale of the Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI). *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 31, 301-306.
- Maynard, D. W. (1996). On "realization" in everyday life: The forecasting of bad news as a social relation. *American Sociological Review*, *61*, 109-131.
- Mayo Clinic Staff. (2008). "Colon Cancer." Retrieved June 30, 2008 from <u>http://www.mayoclinic.com/health/colon-cancer/DS00035/DSECTION=tests-</u> and-diagnosis.
- McCrae, R. R. & Costa, P. T. (2003). *Personality in adulthood: A five-factor theory perspective (2nd ed)*. New York: Guildford Press.
- Miranda, J., & Brody, R. V. (1992). Communicating bad news. Western Journal of Medicine, 156, 83-85.

- Myerowitz, B. E., & Chaiken, S. (1987). The effect of message framing on breast selfexamination attitudes, intention, and behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52, 500-510.
- National Breast Cancer Centre and National Cancer Control Initiative. (2003). *Clinical* practice guidelines for the psychosocial care of adults with cancer. Camperdown, New South Wales, Australia: National Breast Cancer Centre.
- National Cancer Institute. (2008). 5-year relative survival rates by year, by diagnosis, and by cancer site. SEER Cancer Data. Retrieved June 30, 2008 from http://seer.cancer.gov/faststats/selections.php#Output.
- Norton, T. R., Manne, S. L., Rubin, S., Carlson, J., Hernandez, E., Edelson, M. I. et al. (2004). Prevalence and predictors of psychological distress among women with ovarian cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *22*, 919-926.
- Novack, D. H., Plumer, R., Smith, R. L., Ochitill, H., Morrow, G. R., & Bennett, J. M.
 (1979). Changes in physicians' attitudes toward telling the cancer patient. *JAMA : Journal of the American Medical Association*, 241, 897-900.
- O'Connor, A. M. (1989). Effects of framing and level of probability on patients' preferences for cancer chemotherapy. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *42*, 119-126.
- Omne-Ponten, M., Holmber, L., & Sjoden, P. O. (1994). Psychosocial adjustment among women with breast cancer stages I and II: Six-year follow-up of consecutive patients. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *12*, 1778-1782.

- Paraskevaidis, E., Kitchener, H. C., & Walker, L. G. (1993). Doctor-patient communication and subsequent mental health in women with gynaecological cancer. *Psycho-Oncology*, 2, 195-200.
- Parker, P. A., Baile, W. F., de Moor, C., Lenzi, R., Kudelka, A., & Lorenzo, C. (2001). Breaking bad news about cancer: Patients' references for communication. *Journal* of Clinical Oncology, 19, 2049-2056.
- Ptacek, J. T., & Eberhart, T. L. (1996). Breaking bad news: A review of the literature. JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association, 276, 496-502.
- Ptacek, J. T., Ptacek, J. J., & Ellison, T. L. (2001). "I'm sorry to have to tell you..." Physicians reports' of breaking bad news. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 24, 205-217.
- Ramirez, A. J., Graham, J., Richards, M. A., Cull, A., Gregory, W. M., Leaning M. S., et al. (1995). Burnout and psychiatric disorder among cancer clinicians. *British Journal of Cancer*, 71, 1263–1269.
- Roberts, C. S., Cox, C. E., Reintgen, D. S., Baile, W. F., & Gibertini, M. (1994).
 Influence of physician communication on newly diagnosed breast patients' psychologic adjustment and decision-making. *Cancer*, 74, 336-341.
- Robinson-Whelen, S. & Storandt, M. (1992). Factor structure of two health belief measures among older adults. *Psychology and Aging*, *7*, 209-213.
- Rodriguez, K. L., Gambino, F. J., Butow, P. N., Hagerty, R. G., & Arnold, R. M. (2008).
 'It's going to shorten your life': Framing of oncologist-patient communication about prognosis, *Psycho-Oncology*, *17*, 219-225.

- Rothman, A. J., Martino, S. C., Bedell, B. T., Detweiler, J. B., & Salovey, P. (1999). The systematic influence of gain- and loss-framed messages on interest in and use of different types of health behavior. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 25,* 1355-1369.
- Rusting, C. L., & Larsen, R. J. (1997). Extraversion, neuroticism, and susceptibility to positive and negative affect: A test of two theoretical models. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 22, 607-612.
- Sabbioni, M. E. E. (1999). Are physicians aware of what patients know about what physicians know? *Annals of Oncology*, *10*, 11-12.
- Sardell, A. N., & Trierweiler, S. J. (1993). Disclosing the cancer diagnosis: Procedures that influence patient hopefulness. *Cancer*, 72, 3355-3365.
- Scheier, M., Carver, C. S., & Bridges, M. (1994). Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism (and trait anxiety, self-mastery, and self-esteem): A re-evaluation of the Life Orientation Test. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 1063-1078.
- Schmid Mast, M., Hall, J. A., & Roter, D. L. (2007). Disentangling physician sex and physician communication style: Their effects on patient satisfaction in a virtual medical visit. *Patient Education & Counseling*, 68, 16-22.
- Schmid Mast, M., Hall, J. A., & Roter, D. L. (2008). Caring and dominance affect participants' perceptions and behaviors during a virtual medical visit. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 23, 523-527.

- Schmid Mast, M., Kindlimann, A., & Langewitz, W. (2005). Recipients' perspective on breaking bad news: How you put it really makes a difference. *Patient Education & Counseling*, 58, 244-251.
- Schofield, P. E., & Butow, P. N. (2004). Towards better communication in cancer care: a framework for developing evidence-based interventions. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 55, 32-39.
- Schofield, P. E., Butow, P. N., Thompson, J. F., Tattersall, M. H. N., Beeney, L. J., & Dunn, S. M. (2003). Psychological responses of patients receiving a diagnosis of cancer. *Annals of Oncology*, 14, 48-56.
- Sharma, A., Sharp, D.M., Walker, L.G., & Monson, J.R. (2007). Stress and burnout in colorectal and vascular surgical consultants working in the UK National Health Service. *Psycho-Oncology*, 17, 570-576.
- Shepperd, J. A., & McNulty, J. K. (2002). The affective consequences of expected and unexpected outcomes. *Psychological Science*, *13*, 85-88.
- Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., Lushene, R., Vagg, P. R., & Jacobs, G. A. (1983). State Trait Anxiety Inventory for adults manual. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Stanford Medical School Investigators. (2008). Stress, the HPA, and Health in Aging: Common Measures Appendix. Retrieved 25 June 2008 from <u>http://stressandhealth.stanford.edu/</u>
- The SUPPORT Principal Investigators. (1995). A controlled trial to improve care for seriously ill hospitalized patients. The study to understand prognoses and

preferences for outcomes and risks of treatments (SUPPORT). JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association. 274, 1591-1598.

- Sweeny, K., & Shepperd, J. A. (2007). Being the best bearer of bad tidings. *Review of General Psychology*, 235-257.
- Taylor, S. E., & Brown, J. D. (1988). Illusion and well-bring: A social psychological perspective on mental health. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103, 193-210.
- Tellegen, A. (1985). Structures of mood and personality and their relevance to assessing anxiety, with an emphasis on self-report. In A. H. Tuma & J. D. Maser (Eds.), *Anxiety and the anxiety disorders* (pp. 681-706). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Thorne, S. E., Hislop, T. G., Armstrong, E., & Oglov, V. (2008). Cancer care communication: The power to harm and the power to heal? *Patient Education and Counseling*, 71, 34-40.
- VandeKieft, G. K. (2001). Breaking bad news. American Family Physician, 64, 1975-1978.
- Ware, J. E. (1993). SF-36 Health Survey: manual and interpretation guide. The Medical Outcomes Trust: Boston, MA.
- Warr, P. B., Barter, J., & Brownbridge, G. (1983). On the independence of positive and negative affect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 44, 644-651.
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54,1063-70.

- Watson, M., Haviland, J. S., Greer, S., Davison, J., & Bliss, J. M., (1999). Influence of psychological response of survival in breast cancer: A population-based cohort study. *Lancet*, 354, 1331-1336.
- Weeks, J. C., Cook, E. F., O'Day, S. J., Peterson, L. M., Wenger, N., Reding, D., et al. (1998). Relationship between cancer patients' predictions of prognosis and their treatment preferences. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 279, 1709-1714.
- Weinstein, N.D. (1989). Optimistic biases about personal risks. Science, 246, 1232-1233.
- Wenrich, M. D., Curtis, J. R., Shannon, S. E., Carline, J. D., Ambrozy, D. M., & Ramsey,P. G. (2001). Communicating with dying patients within the spectrum of medical care from terminal diagnosis to death. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *161*, 868-874.
- Wiggers, J. H., Donovan, K. O., Redman, S., & Sanson-Fisher, R. W. (1990). Cancer patient satisfaction with care. *Cancer*, 66, 610-616.
- Williams, T., Clarke, V., & Borland, R. (2001). Effects of message framing on breastcancer-related beliefs and behaviors: The role of mediating factors. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 31, 925-950.
- Wittenberg-Lyles, E. M., Goldsmith, J., Sanchez-Reilly, S., & Ragan, S. L. (2008).
 Communicating a terminal prognosis in a palliative care setting: Deficiencies in current communication training protocols. *Social Science and Medicine*, *66*, 2356-2365.
- Zabora, J., Brintzenhofeszoc, K., Curbow, B., Hooker, C., & Piantadosi, S. (2001). The prevalence of psychological distress by cancer site. *Psycho-Oncology*, *10* 19-28.

Appendix A. Vignettes

Videos A1 and A2 Vignette

Please imagine yourself in the following situation:

You have been feeling constipated and nauseated for the last couple of weeks. You also have been having bad pains in your stomach, and recently, you have started noticing some blood in the toilet after you go to the bathroom. At first you thought that you just had a stomach bug and that it would go away, but after about 3 weeks of the same symptoms, you decided to go to the doctor.

You first saw the doctor last week. After examining you very carefully and asking you a lot of questions about your medical background and your symptoms, the doctor told you that there were a couple of different things that could cause the symptoms you're describing, but that he would not know anything without doing further tests. At the doctor's recommendation, you had a colonoscopy the next day, which is a standard screening test in which doctors look at the inside of your colon to see if anything appeared abnormal. The doctors found a couple of polyps, which are abnormal growths of tissue that people your age often have. He biopsied the polyps, which means he removed some tissue and sent it to the lab to be examined under a microscope.

Today you are here to see the doctor for the second time to find out the results of the biopsy.

Videos B1 and B2 Vignette

Now please imagine the following scenario:

Since your last doctor's appointment, you have had a CAT scan. You also had surgery. The surgeon cut out the cancerous part of your colon, along with segments of normal tissue on either side to be sure that no cancer was left behind. He then reconnected the healthy sections of your colon back together. As part of the surgery, the surgeon also took out several lymph nodes to see if the cancer has spread to them. Lymph nodes help you fight infections. If there's lymph node involvement, it means that your cancer is at a more advanced stage, and you might need chemotherapy. The surgeon told you the he sent the lymph nodes off to be examined with a microscope, and that that all the results would be back in one week.

You are recovering from surgery well, and are not in any pain. You are seeing the doctor today to get results from the CAT scan and the lymph node biopsy.

Appendix B. Video Scripts

Video A1

Good to see you— I'm glad we could get together to discuss your test results today.

Let me review your history a little bit to be sure that we're on the same page... When you came in last week you told me that you had been feeling constipated and nauseated for a couple of weeks. You also complained of stomach pains and said that you had noticed some blood in your stool. Now, as I told you last week, there are a couple of different things that can cause the symptoms you're describing, which is why we arranged for you to have some tests done.

So two days ago you had a colonoscopy, where we looked at the inside of your colon. We did find a couple of polyps, which are those abnormal growths of tissue that many people your age have. We biopsied the polyps, which means we removed some tissue and sent it to the lab to be examined under a microscope.

OK, so it's the results of the biopsy that we're going to be discussing today.

I'm afraid I have bad news. [*Pauses momentarily, making eye contact with patient.*] The biopsy of that tissue shows that you have colon cancer. [*Pauses briefly.*]

I'm sorry to have to tell you this. I want you to know that I'm going to be here to help you through this. [Pauses again, making eye contact with patient.]

At this point we don't know the extent, or stage, of your cancer. We need to do some more tests, including a CAT scan, to find out whether the cancer has spread. This will help us decide what treatments are going to be most helpful for you.

However, regardless of whether the cancer has spread, the first thing we'll want to do is schedule you for surgery to remove the part of your colon where the cancer is. As part of the surgery, we'll also look for any spread of the disease, which will involve taking out some lymph nodes and checking them for cancer.

Again, I want you to know that I am here to help you through this. *[Pause]*. We're going to take this one step at a time, and I'm going to help you understand everything that's going on. So let's take a few minutes and then see what questions I can answer for you.

Video A2

Good to see you— I'm glad we could get together to discuss your test results today.

Let me review your history a little bit to be sure that we're on the same page... When you came in last week you told me that you had been feeling constipated and nauseated for a couple of weeks. You also complained of stomach pains and said that you had noticed some blood in your stool. Now, as I told you last week, there are a couple of different things that can cause the symptoms you're describing, which is why we arranged for you to have some tests done.

So two days ago you had a colonoscopy, where we looked at the inside of your colon. We did find a couple of polyps, which are those abnormal growths of tissue that many people your age have. We biopsied the polyps, which means we removed some tissue and sent it to the lab to be examined under a microscope.

OK, so it's the results of the biopsy that we're going to be discussing today.

[*No warning of bad news.*] The biopsy of that tissue shows that you have colon cancer. [*Pauses briefly.*]

I'm sorry to have to tell you this. I want you to know that I'm going to be here to help you through this. [Pauses again, making eye contact with patient.]

At this point we don't know the extent, or stage, of your cancer. We need to do some more tests, including a CAT scan, to find out whether the cancer has spread. This will help us decide what treatments are going to be most helpful for you.

However, regardless of whether the cancer has spread, the first thing we'll want to do is schedule you for surgery to remove the part of your colon where the cancer is. As part of the surgery, we'll also look for any spread of the disease, which will involve taking out some lymph nodes and checking them for cancer.

Again, I want you to know that I am here to help you through this. *[Pause]*. We're going to take this one step at a time, and I'm going to help you understand everything that's going on. So let's take a few minutes and then see what questions I can answer for you.

Video B1

Hi, it's good to see you again. I'm glad to see that you're recovering well from your surgery. As I told you before, the surgery went just as planned, and they were able to remove the portion of your colon where the cancer was without a problem.

Now I know you've been waiting to hear the results of the additional tests that we had done, and I'd like to talk to you about those results today.

The CAT scan showed that the cancer has not spread to any other organs in your body, but we did find that the cancer has spread into several of your lymph nodes. [Pauses again.]

I'm so sorry to have to tell you this. [Pauses again, making eye contact with patient.]

Now, the two main questions that patients usually ask me about this diagnosis are treatment and what to expect in the future. So let me talk a little bit about that.

As far as treatment, I'm going to recommend a course of chemotherapy. In addition to the surgery, chemotherapy is designed to kill the remaining cancer cells. The combination of surgery and chemotherapy is the most effective treatment we have for this type of cancer.

Fortunately, there's about an 80% chance that you will remain cancer free after treatment. In addition, I can tell you that about 65% of people who are your age and have this disease will be alive in 5 years.

I want you to know that I am going to do whatever I can to help you through this. *[Pause]*. Let's take a few minutes and then see what questions you have.
Video B2

Hi, it's good to see you again. I'm glad to see that you're recovering well from your surgery. As I told you before, the surgery went just as planned, and they were able to remove the portion of your colon where the cancer was without a problem.

Now I know you've been waiting to hear the results of the additional tests that we had done, and I'd like to talk to you about those results today.

The CAT scan showed that the cancer has not spread to any other organs in your body, but we did find that the cancer has spread into several of your lymph nodes. [Pauses again.]

I'm so sorry to have to tell you this. [Pauses again, making eye contact with patient.]

Now, the two main questions that patients usually ask me about this diagnosis are treatment and what to expect in the future. So let me talk a little bit about that.

As far as treatment, I'm going to recommend a course of chemotherapy. In addition to the surgery, chemotherapy is designed to kill the remaining cancer cells. The combination of surgery and chemotherapy is the most effective treatment we have for this type of cancer.

Unfortunately, there's about a 20% chance that your cancer will come back after treatment. In addition, I can tell you that about 35% of people who are your age and have this disease will die within 5 years.

I want you to know that I am going to do whatever I can to help you through this. *[Pause]*. Let's take a few minutes and then see what questions you have.

Appendix C. Information Recall Questionnaire

Information Recall: Diagnosis Video (Video A)

PLEASE CIRCLE YES OR NO.

- 1. Did the doctor tell you that you have colon cancer? YES NO
- 2. Did the biopsy show the extent, or stage, of your cancer? YES NO
- 3. Has the cancer had spread to your lymph nodes? YES NO
- 4. Did the doctor recommend that you have some more tests done? **YES** NO
- 5. Did the doctor recommend that you start chemotherapy? YES NO

6. Did the doctor recommend that you have surgery to remove the part of your colon where the cancer is?

YES NO

Appendix D. Hope Ratings Questionnaire

Hope Ratings: Prognosis Video (Video B)

Now we are interested in what you are <u>thinking</u> and <u>feeling</u> about the news you just received from the doctor.

5. Please rate how <u>hopeful</u> you feel about each of the statements below using a number between 0 and 100. (0 is *not at all hopeful*, and 100 is *extremely hopeful*).

Based on the news the doctor gave you, how hopeful are you that	Hopefulness (0-100)
a. You will live 1 year?	
b. You will live 5 years?	
c. You will live 10 years?	
d. You will live longer than the doctor expects?	
e. You will receive the treatment you need?	
f. The cancer will never return after treatment?	
g. You will remain independent after treatment?	
h. Any pain or symptoms will be well controlled?	
i. You will be well cared for and supported?	

6. Overall, how hopeful do you feel about the future? (0 is *not at all hopeful*, and 100 is *extremely hopeful*): _____

7. How would you rate the news you just received about what to expect in the future?
(0 is *the worst news you could have possibly received*, and 100 is *the best news you could have possibly received*): _____